
 

 

For all enquiries relating to this agenda please contact Joanne Thomas 
 (Tel: 07714600912   Email: thomaj8@caerphilly.gov.uk) 

 
Date: 7th November 2022 

 
To Whom It May Concern, 
 
A multi-locational meeting of the Joint Scrutiny Committee will be held in Penallta House and via 
Microsoft Teams on Thursday, 10th November, 2022 at 5.00 pm to consider the matters contained in 

the following agenda.  Councillors and the public wishing to speak on any item can do so by making a 
request to the Chair.  You are also welcome to use Welsh at the meeting, both these requests require a 
minimum notice period of 3 working days.  A simultaneous translation will be provided on request.   
 
Members of the public or Press may attend in person at Penallta House or may view the meeting live via 
the following link: https://civico.net/caerphilly  
 
 

 

This meeting will be live-streamed and a recording made available to view via the Council’s website, 
except for discussions involving confidential or exempt items.  Therefore the images/audio of those 
individuals speaking will be publicly available to all via the Council website at www.caerphilly.gov.uk 

 

 
Yours faithfully, 

 
Christina Harrhy 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
 

A G E N D A 
 

Pages 
  

1  To receive apologies for absence. 
 
 

 

Public Document Pack

https://civico.net/caerphilly
http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/


2  Declarations of Interest.   
 
Councillors and Officers are reminded of their personal responsibility to declare any personal 
and/or prejudicial interest(s) in respect of any item of business on this agenda in accordance 
with the Local Government Act 2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Code of Conduct for 
both Councillors and Officers. 
 

To receive and consider the following reports: - 
 
3  Corporate Performance Assessment End of Year Report 2021/22. 

1 - 12 
 

4  Annual Self-Assessment Report (Including Well-Being Objectives) 2021/22. 
13 - 64 

 
 
 
 
Circulation: 
 
Councillors M.A. Adams, Mrs E.M. Aldworth, A. Angel, C. Bishop, A. Broughton-Pettit, M. Chacon-

Dawson, R. Chapman, Mrs P. Cook, D. Cushing, C.J. Cuss, D.T. Davies, N. Dix, G. Ead, C. Elsbury, 
G. Enright, K. Etheridge, M. Evans, A. Farina-Childs, Mrs C. Forehead, J.E. Fussell, A. Gair, C.J. Gordon, 
D.C. Harse, T. Heron, A. Hussey, D. Ingram-Jones, M.P. James, L. Jeremiah, G. Johnston, S. Kent, 
A. Leonard, C.P. Mann, A. McConnell, B. Miles, B. Owen, T. Parry, L. Phipps, M. Powell, D.W.R. Preece, 
Mrs D. Price, H. Pritchard, J.A. Pritchard, J. Rao, J. Reed, J.E. Roberts, J. Sadler, R. Saralis, J. Scriven, 
S. Skivens, J. Taylor, C. Thomas, A. Whitcombe, L.G. Whittle, S. Williams, W. Williams, J. Winslade, 
K. Woodland and C. Wright 
 
And Appropriate Officers 
 
 
HOW WE WILL USE YOUR INFORMATION 
Those individuals that attend committee meetings to speak/give evidence will be named in the minutes of that meeting, 
sometimes this will include their place of employment or business and opinions expressed.  Minutes of Meetings including deta ils 
of speakers will be publicly available to all via the Council website at www.caerphilly.gov.uk. except for discussions involving 
confidential or exempt items. 
You have a number of rights in relation to your information, including the rights of access to information we hold about you and 
the right of complaint if you are unhappy with the way your information is being p rocessed. 
For further information on how we process your information and your rights please view the Full Committee Meetings Privacy 

Notice on our website or contact Legal Services by email griffd2@caerphilly.gov.uk or telephone 01443 863028. 

 

http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/Committee/Privacy
http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/Committee/Privacy
mailto:griffd2@caerphilly.gov.uk


 
 

 
JOINT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 10TH NOVEMBER 2022 

 
   
SUBJECT: CORPORATE PERFORMANCE ASSESSMENT END OF 

YEARREPORT 2021/22 
 

REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR - EDUCATION AND CORPORATE 
SERVICES 

 

 

 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT  
 

1.1 To present Joint Scrutiny with the Corporate Performance Assessment (CPA) which 
is part of the Council’s Performance Framework approved by Cabinet February 2020, 
following the presentation of the Directorate Performance Assessments to Scrutiny.   

 
1.2 The CPA provides summary of information and analysis for the 6-month period 

October 2021 to March 2022.  The CPA forms part of the overall Council ‘self-

assessment’ activity, of which members are invited to discuss, challenge, and 
scrutinise the information in the CPA.  

 
 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 The Council’s Performance Framework was endorsed by Cabinet in February 2020 

and this report introduces one of the key components of the Framework, the 
Corporate Performance Assessment (CPA). The CPA is a ‘self-assessment’ of the 
Authority’s progress across a wide range of information types. 

 
2.2 As part of the Performance Framework, this report presents to Joint Scrutiny the CPA 

attached as Appendix 1 for the period October 2021 to March 2022. 
 

2.3 Beneath the CPA are the Directorate Performance Assessments (DPA) which are 
detailed sources of information for each Directorate. Information from the DPA’s is 
fed up into the CPA.  The CPA is an opportunity for members to ask, how well we are 
performing? and what evidence are we using to determine this.  

 
2.4 As part of the Performance Framework, this report presents the CPA attached as 

Appendix 1 Corporate Directorates Performance Assessment up to March 2022. 
 
 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
3.1 Members review the attached document (Appendix 1) and discuss, challenge, and 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



scrutinise the information contained within.   
 
 
4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
4.1 Members are involved in the ‘self-assessment’ process by scrutinising the information 

within the Corporate Performance Assessment.  This also supports the principles 
within the new section (Part 6, Chapter 1) of the Local Government and Elections 
(Wales) Act 2021 which provides for a new performance and governance regime for 
principal councils  

 
4.2 Statutory guidance for local authorities says that council executives should welcome 

and encourage scrutiny inquiries to make recommendations for system 
improvements. The aim is to support councils to build on existing strengths and to 
support them to achieve a more innovative, open, honest, transparent, and ambitious 
sector, challenging itself and collectively driving up service delivery outcomes and 
standards. 

 
4.3 The guidance says that local authorities are responsible for: -  

 Conducting robust self-assessments and reporting on the extent to which the 
council is meeting the performance requirements to improve the social, 
economic, environmental, and cultural well-being of its local communities.  

 Setting out any actions to increase the extent to which the council is meeting the 
performance requirements, including, for example, the role of scrutiny in 
challenging and driving the extent to which the performance requirements are 
being met.  

 Scrutiny committees are a key part of offering constructive challenge to how a 
council is performing and how it organises itself in the delivery of sustainable 
services. Scrutiny committees, as well as internal audit, will be a key part of a 
council’s self-assessment 

 
 
5. THE REPORT 
 
5.1 The Performance Framework has been developed to meet several strategic and 

operational needs as well as to meet the legislation and further the Council’s desire 
to be a high performing learning organisation focused on meeting the needs of its 
residents.  The framework was piloted in 2019 and endorsed by Cabinet February 
2020 and now is reported as a regular part of scrutiny committees.  This report 
introduces and shares the CPA for the year end 2021/22. 

 
5.2 The spirit of the CPA (Appendix 1) is about providing learning. The CPA is less about 

performance and targets (though they have their place) and is more so to provide a 
wider picture of performance that will support reflective and challenging 
conversations and scrutiny that will ultimately lead to learning and further 
improvement. 

 
5.3 Part of the framework was to develop a reporting dashboard at directorate level, that 

fed into an overall Council assessment, called the CPA (Appendix 1).  To show how 
the CPA fits into the overall framework the components are noted below in 5.7  

 
5.4 The Framework 

 
 The Council’s new Performance Framework has several component parts: 
 

 Corporate Performance Assessment (CPA) 

Page 2



 Directorate Performance Assessment (DPA) 

 Service Planning, identifying priorities resources and actions to improve. 

 Risk Management – the barriers that may prevent improvement. 
 My-Time Extra – personal learning and development, skills to deliver on 

objectives. 
 
5.5 The Corporate Performance Assessment (CPA) dashboard is used by the Corporate 

Management Team (CMT) and Cabinet to monitor the Council’s progress in 
delivering its strategic priorities, identifying and challenging areas of 
underperformance and discussing and agreeing any remedial actions that may be 
required.   
 
The dashboard is received by CMT and Cabinet on a twice-yearly basis. While the 
dashboard itself offers a rich insight, it is set at a high-level position and designed to 
be an ‘at a glance’ overall picture.  
 
The detail that sits underneath it and creates the CPA from it is held within each 
individual DPA report, which are usually monitored at their individual scrutiny. 

 
5.6 Corporate Performance Assessment (CPA) 

  
The CPA includes the following sections: 
 

 Chief Executive Summary 

 Performance Data 
 Risk Register  

 

5.7 Conclusion   

The Council’s Performance Framework as set out will provide Cabinet, Scrutiny 
Committees, CMT and DMTs with a regular and embedded mechanism for 
monitoring progress, managing performance, and driving improvement. The 
dashboards, which provide ‘a single source of the truth’, enable key aspects of 
performance to be discussed, action to be agreed and learning to be generated. The 
ability to specifically link individual contributions to organisational goals provides a 
platform for every employee to understand how they fit and to be recognised for the 
part the play in delivering the Council’s objectives.  

 
 
6. ASSUMPTIONS 

6.1 No assumptions were thought to be required in this report.   
 
 
7. SUMMARY OF INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

 
7.1 This report is for information and has no decision-making requests, so the Council full 

Integrated Impact Assessment process does not to be applied.  Information on 
equalities and Welsh language will be included appropriately within the DPA and 
CPA as part of a picture of Directorate’s self-assessments. 

 
 
8. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
8.1 There are no financial implications within this report, however the CPA (Appendix 1) 

Page 3



has a section on resources including relevant budget out turns as part of the overall 
self-assessment of the directorate. 

 
 
9. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 

 
9.1 There are no personnel implications within this report, however the CPA (Appendix 1) 

has a section called ‘resources’ which provides data on a range of workforce 
aspects. 

 
 
10. CONSULTATIONS 

 
10.1 Any consultation responses have been included within this report. The consultation is 

the response to whether members liked the CPA method and the questions raised 
from reviewing it.   

 
 
11. STATUTORY POWER  

 
11.1 The Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021  
 
 
Author:  Ros Roberts, Business Improvement Manager, roberr@caerphilly.gov.uk  
 
Consultees: Christina Harrhy, Chief Executive 

Richard Edmunds, Corporate Director of Education and Corporate 
 Services 

 Dave Street, Corporate Director, Social Services and Hosuing                      
Mark S. Williams, Corporate Director Communities 

                        Sue Richards, Head of Education Planning and Strategy 
Steve Harris, Head of Financial Services and S151 Officer 
Kathryn Peters, Corporate Policy Manager 
Cllr Eluned Stenner, Cabinet member Finance &and Performance 
Joanna Pearce, Business Improvement Officer 
Ioan Richards, Business Improvement Officer 

 
 
Appendices: 
 
Appendix 1 Corporate Performance Assessment (Oct 2021 – Mar 2022) 
 
 

Page 4



Corporate Performance Assessment (CPA) Qtr 4 2021/22
 Chief Executive Summary

The Chief Executives End of year Self-assessment Summary 2021/22

The past few years have taken us to places we never could have imagined. The global pandemic required us to step in and step up quickly. We brought our civic leadership responsibilities to the forefront of all we did, to enable us to lead our 
communities through the dark days of Covid with a shining beacon of security and hope. Overnight we turned our organisation on its head – introducing many new services and turning others off within a matter of hours – all to meet the new 
and urgent needs of our communities – we responded quickly and we responded together. Throughout this time, we saw first-hand the forceful impact of TeamCaerphilly - bound together through a shared purpose and desire to do whatever 
was needed to protect our people and place. 

We have learnt so much – and one of the many challenges we face is how we keep hold of the many great things we achieved – such as cutting through unnecessary  bureaucracy and flexing and empowering our staff to do the right thing. As I 
personally look back over the past year and previous years – it is filled with emotion – it is with sadness, as so many people tragically lost their lives, but it is also with immense pride. 

Despite operating within a very demanding environment, we continued to maintain service delivery. Our schools and education service continue to thrive and it is extremely pleasing to report that none of our schools are receiving any support or 
intervention by Estyn. The recent 2022 examination results are yet to be collated officially but the feedback to date is very positive. Throughout the pandemic we delivered over 2 million meals to our families most in need. A mammoth task co-
ordinated by the catering team through an army of willing staff and community volunteers.   

The pressures within the Health service are very concerning and a whole system review is required in order to reduce the burden upon Health colleagues and the pressures we are facing within the domiciliary care service. Our looked after 
children numbers are increasing and the mental health condition of some of our school pupils is an area of focus for us, both unfortunately is a legacy of the pandemic.  Recruitment and retention within the social care area is particularly acute 
but this is a pressure we are facing across the Council as a whole. This is one of the key organisational risks we have identified and as such we are actively focussed in this area and have several interventions under development.    

Bids have been submitted to UK Government for some very exciting physical regeneration projects and if successful will bring a demanding work programme with it. The recent completion of the largest WHQS investment programme covering 
over 10,000 council properties and the beginnings of our new build programme, is bringing a sharp focus on the delivery of our Placeshaping programme. 

Our annual review from our regulators, Estyn, Care Inspectorate Wales and Audit Wales was once again very positive and endorsed the positive work that has been undertaken across all our services, and importantly, where areas were identified 
as in need of attention, they were areas we already had identified ourselves and plans were already underway. Thereby further reinforcing my view that we know ourselves very well and know where we are going.

The fantastic achievements made by so many across the organisation were once again recognised on a national platform with a plethora of individual awards, culminating with the Council of the Year. Whilst we didn’t win the award on this 
occasion, we were only 1 of 5 from across the UK to be shortlisted – so nevertheless a great achievement and a key milestone for us as we continue our journey along the undulating TeamCaerphilly road.

As we move from one national crisis, we are swiftly moving into another. The landscape is extremely complex, challenging and unprecedented.

Our communities are bruised from the pandemic and are now facing the acute impact of eye-watering rising energy and food costs. The frightening impact of climate change is being seen here and now and the humanitarian crisis in Ukraine is 
calling upon us to dig deep and act once again.

We will need to reshape & repurpose our organisation to respond – but we are being impacted too - a further Covid wave, pressures within the health and social care sector, recruitment and retention, less funding along with an expectation to 
do more but our desire and responsibility to serve the complex and acute needs of our communities remains our primary focus. 

The years ahead will be extremely challenging, but we will respond based upon the firm knowledge that we are robust and resilient.

1

Appendix 1 

P
age 5



Corporate Performance Assessment (CPA) Qtr 4 2021/22

 Underspend/ (Overspend)
2021-22

£m

Education & Lifelong Learning 1.902
Social Services 9.043
Economy & Environment 2.473
Corporate Services 1.352
Miscellaneous Finance 4.479
Additional Revenue Support Grant (RSG) 3.540
Council Tax Surplus 1.761
Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 7.342
Schools 5.923
TOTAL 37.815

Category Qtr 1 Qtr 2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4
Voluntary Leavers 110 213 153 135
Other Leavers 29 42 20 18
Total Leavers 139 255 173 153
External New Starters 132 295 209 195
Number of Agency Staff 322 354 289 343
Headcount 8,255 8,310 8,368 8,348
Age 55 and over 2,076 2,044 2,061 2,067
% of headcount 25.14 24.59 24.62 24.76

Service Area

All DPA (Directorate) Priorities - Progress 

% Sickness Absence by Directorate

CMT Priorities - Progress (See Chart on the right for more details)

Workforce breakdown

5

WBO:  Well-being Objectives - Progress/StatusRisk Register - Number/Category of CMT RisksFinance - Budget Monitoring Report - period 12

Not yet started or too early to
report any progress

Started but not progressing well

Started with reasonable progress
achieved

Going well with good progress

Total Count113

4

40

63

6

CMT Priorities - Progress (Details by Directorates)

Not yet started or too early to
report any progress

Started but not progressing well

Started with reasonable
progress achieved

Going well with good progress

Total Count6 

-

-

6 

-

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

Q1
2020

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
2021

Q2 Q3 Q4

Economy & Environment Education & Corporate Services

Social Services & Housing CCBC
7.96

6.05
7.25

6.32
4.06

0.75
2.70

4.21
7.27

1.28
4.40

6.01
6.39

7.56
2.60

5.79
6.94

4.04
0.00

Community and Leisure Services
Infrastructure

Property Services
Public Protection

Regeneration and Planning
Business Improvement Services

Corporate Finance
Customer and Digital Services

Learning Education and Inclusion
Legal & Governance

People Services
Schools

Transformation Services
Adult Services

Business Support
Caerphilly Cares

Caerphilly Homes
Children Services

Joint Workforce Development Team

% Sickness Absence by Service Area

Not yet started or too early to
report any progress
(achievements/changes)
Started but not progressing well

Started with reasonable
progress achieved

Going well with good progress

Total Count31

0

11

20

0

4

7

1

8

5

6

CMT-All

Education & Corporate

Economy & Environment

Social Services & Caerphilly Homes

31

1

8

4

0

0

0

Low

Medium

High

New (Not
Categorised)

Unknown

To Be Updated

Total Count13

2

P
age 6



Corporate Performance Assessment (CPA) Qtr 4 2021/22

145

6

82

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

Economy & Environment Education & Corporate
Services

Social Services &
Caerphilly Homes

Number of Formal Compliments

Welsh Language stats - whole authority
7

Corporate Complaints:  Number of Stage 1 & Stage 2 Compliments (Positive Feedback)

FOI - Compliance - 20 days (%)FOI's - Freedom of Information Requests - CCBC Key messages - Social Services 

231

13 4

62

114

20
7 2 0

26
47

4 3 0
21

0

50

100

150

200

250
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 1 escalated to Stage 2

• Adults Services:
• There is a steady drop in adults receiving services.
• A slight increase in number of Assessments between quarters 3 and 4 due 

to services getting back to normal after the pandemic. 
• Again a slight drop in Reviews could be down to shortage of staff in this 

area.

• Children Services:
• The number of Children Looked After has decreased slightly. 
• A positive increase in discharges from care in Qtr 4 which is attributable to 

successful revocations of Care Orders in the Courts.

• Directorate:
• Difficulties in recruiting Qualified Social Workers into frontline Teams with 

high levels of vacancies being managed across the Service. 
• Fragility of the Social Care market.

154

279
243

276
259

215
248

299

90

146 159
135

162
127

158
195

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

Qtr1
2020/21

Qtr2 Qtr3 Qtr4 Qtr1
2021/22

Qtr2 Qtr3 Qtr4

Number of FOIs received

FOIs receiving a response in 20 working days

58%
55%

59% 60%
64%

62% 63% 64%

40%

60%

80%

Qtr1
2020/21

Qtr2 Qtr3 Qtr4 Qtr1
2021/22

Qtr2 Qtr3 Qtr4

Percentage of requests for information received by Council within the
terms of FOI/EIR Act receiving a response within 20 working days - year
to date

Total 
Staff

Welsh 
Speakers

%

2075 376 18.12
4761 1333 27.99
1910 309 16.17

8348 1968 23.57

Economy & Environment
Education & Corporate Services
Social Services & Caerphilly Homes

Council Total

3

P
age 7



Key messages - Economy & Environment

•  Bus passenger numbers remain a concern for the viability of the   
industry and the ability of the sector to deliver services due
to financial sustainability  and availability of drivers.

•  The loss of EU funded programmes (such as those relating to
employment support) is a significant risk for the Authority and political
lobbying has taken place accordingly (this could present redundancy
liabilities).

•  Market competition for staffing resources has created recruitment and
retention challenges for some front-line services.  This is now 
affecting our ability to deliver and maintain services at
previous expected levels.  Prioritisations must take place.

•  Evaluating staffing roles, working locations and IT equipment for
improved adaptability and agile working arrangements is proving to be
time consuming  and complex (Links to CR3 Frontline Services and CR6
Agile Working).

•  Analysis of our fleet vehicles and introduction of electric fleet
vehicles is progressing, but very slowly, as is the installation of a
charging network across  various sites.

•  Prudent assets modernisation, maintenance, and rationalisation,
continues to be a challenge, and is linked to delivering outcomes, 
from the ongoing Corporate Reviews.  

•  The top five stage 1 and 2 complaints continues to focus on, Refuse-
Recycling-Green Waste-Missed Collections and other matters, Parking,
Highway maintenance works, Planning-General, Cleansing and General
Weed Control-Grounds Maintenance.

•  Directorate sickness levels have shown a steady increase (worsening)
throughout the year and has been the worse of the last 3 years.  It is a
concern in certain services areas and is something that the Corporate
Management Team are presently considering.

• With some exceptions performance results across the directorate generally 
show that we are maintaining reasonable levels of service delivery, given the 
diversion of some resources, lost resources and constraints experienced 
throughout the Covid pandemic and as a result of ongoing recruitment and 
retention difficulties

Key messages - Educations & Corporate Services

Corporate Services 
• CCBC became an asylum dispersal area in June and has stepped up to 

manage the hosting of Ukrainian nationals under the 'Homes for Ukraine' 
scheme. 

• The New Gwent PSB has been supported and facilitated by CCBC and we 
have led on the development of the Gwent local assessment of well-being.  

• Sickness absence levels continue to rise. The percentage sickness absence for 
the authority in Q4 was 5.83% and the number of working days lost to 
sickness absence per employee has risen to 14.12 days compared to 10 days 
in 2020/21.

• We have recorded 68 data breaches during 2021/22. Common themes: 
wrong e-mail address selected from autocomplete drop down menu, e-mail 
addresses not entered into bcc field when sending email to multiple 
recipients, information sent to wrong person.

• We still have lingering non-compliance against the Welsh Language 
Standards with the Commissioner's most recent assurance report picking up 
issues with errors in social media posts, call menus in English only etc. These are 
niggling non-compliances that we are working with services to improve. 

Education
• There are no schools placed in the category of special measures by 

Estyn. One remains in significant improvement and is due to be revisited 
soon. Three schools previously identified as 'Estyn Review'  have made 
sufficient progress, and no longer requires external monitoring.

• Implementation of the Welsh Government EdTech initiative provided 
significant investment in IT and digital, including completion of network 
infrastructure installations, improvements to connectivity and bandwidth,
really benefitting online and blended learning.

• The Early Years partnership project has been an amazing achievement and is 
now available to vulnerable families from antenatal to 7years across the 
borough regardless of their postcode. 

• Support to families across the borough has increased significantly for families 
living outside Flying Start areas from 50 in previous years to 826 in 2021-22  
supporting circa 1400 children aged 0-7years.  

• Automation of the location of school places during 21/22 has made the 
process much faster for parents, reduced potential errors and increased 
efficiencies.

• The Catering team has quickly procured a provider to access the current 
capacity of school kitchens and dining halls and now has a detailed analysis 
of requirements at each site. Iidentified adaptions are planned with the 
planned roll out of universal Free School Meals. 

• When the Libraries were closed the service adapted their model to online 
catalogues, click and collect and deliveries to vulnerable people. This 
transformed the service with expansion of online services, more information 
is in the Education DPA.

• The Education Welfare Service developed a Covid Attendance Toolkit to 
prioritise cases where pupils’ attendance is lowest (below 85% threshold), 
officers are working with pupils and families with attendance as low as 40%.

• Ongoing challenges presented by the Covid-19 pandemic provide barriers to 
progress and are significant. Schools report high pupil absence, increased 
pupil wellbeing concerns and the need to recover lost learning.

• NEETs increased to 2.2% - which represented 41 people out of 1888.

Key messages - Caerphilly Homes

Caerphilly Homes 
• The completion of WHQS this was a huge achievement, and our Housing 

stock is now in good condition.
• Our housing association partners have completed the redevelopment of the 

former Cwm Ifor Primary School, Penyrheol, creating 17 new homes built to 
Passivhaus standard.

• Over 1,100 residents helped to find additional benefits worth nearly £3m as 
the cost-of-living crisis escalates.

• Of the 1136 residents whose income was maximised 46% were in crisis and 
54% were approached as part of our proactive model. 3059 tenants 
(included private) were supported to remain in their homes as part of early 
homeless prevention work. 

• Outline planning permission was awarded for Oakdale school site and Ty 
Darren in March 22, our first two independent development projects.

• The homeless households temporarily accommodated in Bed and Breakfast 
has increased over the year as has the number of households requiring B&B 
accommodation (149) but those prevented from homelessness has also 
increased. 

• There has been a steady increase in complaints
• Tenant Satisfaction Survey showed some areas that require improvement 

or at least to the perception of the service.
• Housing is carrying circa 55 vacancies across the service with acute issue 

being experienced within the repairs and maintenance team where 
operatives are leaving to obtain better salaries in other social landlords as 
the cost-of-living crisis increases. Operatives who have been with us since 
an apprentice for 18 years are taking offers of circa £3-£5K more in salary.

• Due to substantial issues with the availability of contractors and materials, 
the Private Sector Housing Team were unable to process and deliver the 
amount of grants and loans this year. 

• The cost of materials has increased significantly, which has affected the 
number of private sector homes we were able to support.

P
age 8



CMT - Risk Register
Last Quarter Risk 

Level
Current Risk 

Level

Risk ID Risk Name Risk Description CMT Lead Officer Q4 2021/22 Q1 2022/23
Well-being Risk 

Level

CRR 08 - Social Services 
& Housing Directorate

Fragility of the Social Care market The independent sector social care market across Wales is in an unprecedented 
position in terms of its fragility and this is an ongoing problem for the authorty. 
The ability to recruit and retain care staff, in the face of significant competition 
from the retail and hospitality sectors is becoming more and more of an issue. 
As a consequence independent providers are handing back packages of care 
and the future of some care homes is in the balance.

Corporate Director 
Social Care & 

Housing

High High High

CRR 07 - Education & 
Lifelong Learning 
Directorate

School Attainment The impact of covid on learner achievement remains unkown and requires 
further evidence and appropriate intervention, particularly with the 
inconsistent nature of assessement since 2020 along with reduced levels of 
pupil attendance and higher than average levels of exclusions.

Corporate Director 
Education & 

Corporate Services

High High High

CRR-16
NEW
2021/22

Recruitment & Retention of Staff The Council needs to be able to employ sufficient numbers of staff across its 
services in order to ensure service delivery can be maintained. At present, there 
are challenges in recruiting replacement staff within certain Council professions 
that could, if not overcome, create difficulties over the medium to long term.

Corporate Director 
Education & 

Corporate Services

High High High

NEW 2020
CRR 11 - Directorate of 
Economy & the 
Environment

Fleet Providing a fully operational, compliant fleet of vehicles is essential for the 
Council to deliver all of its front line services.  In this regard the Council holds a 
goods vehicle operators licence (“O licence”) and must continue to demonstrate 
compliance with the conditions of the “O licence” and the legislative framework 
in which it exists.  There is a current risk relating to the ability of the Council to 
staff its fleet management and maintenance service with suitably qualified 
and/or experienced staff and deliver the required level of management and 
maintenance standards.

Corporate Director 
Economy and 
Environment

High High High

CRR 13 -
New Q1 20/21 
Homelessness

Increased Homelessness Increased numbers of homelessness could result in increased incidents of rough 
sleeping and increased use of B&B/hotel type accommodation to address 
emergency needs. This in turn could result in poor outcomes for the households 
concerned and a repeat of the homelessness cycle.  As national Covid policy 
delaying evictions by private landlords has come to the an end, evictions could 
rise significantly.  

Corporate Director 
Social Care & 

Housing

Medium Medium High

New…For further 
consideration

Loss of EU / WEFO Grant Funding 
Streams and related programmes                                                        

The loss of EU / WEFO grant funding streams will have a direct impact on the 
Councils budget and place at risk the provisoin of certain services and projects 
that are undeprinned by this external grant funding.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                

Corporate Director 
Economy and 
Environment

Medium Medium High

CRR 14 - Microsoft 
operating support 

Increased Cyber Security Threat Local Government and other Public Sector organisations are recording an 
increasing number of cyber security attacks with successful attacks placing core 
business and service delivery at risk.  

Corporate Director 
Education & 

Corporate Services

Medium Medium High

Caerphilly CBC Corporate Risk Register

5

P
age 9



CMT - Risk Register
Last Quarter Risk 

Level
Current Risk 

Level

Risk ID Risk Name Risk Description CMT Lead Officer Q4 2021/22 Q1 2022/23
Well-being Risk 

Level

Caerphilly CBC Corporate Risk Register

CRR 02 - All Directorates Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP) The Council's MTFP needs to be refreshed in the Autumn of 2022 in order to 
address the significant impact of rising inflation, higher than expected pay 
awards, the increased costs of energy and supplies and the wider impact of cost 
of living on our residents. 

Chief Executive Medium Medium Medium

CRR 12 - Covid 19 New 
Q1 20/21

Covid 19 Recovery (and future wave 
response)

As the local economy seeks to recover from the impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic, the Council will need to focus on a series of recovery measures to 
stimulate local growth. The Council will also need to remain prepared to 
manage its critical services and workforce pressures through potential future 
waves that limit social mobility and reduce the avaiability of resource

Chief Exexutive Medium Medium Medium

CRR 15 - Contractors Material and Contractor Costs and 
Supply Chain Issues

The availability of contractors, material shortages and supply chain delays as 
well as inflationary cost increases are having a significant impact on  the 
Council's ability to deliver planned maintenance and to progress key 
infrastructure and building projects.

Corporate Director 
Economy and 
Environment

Medium Medium Medium

CRR 05 - 
Dir for Economy & 
Environment

Ash Die Back (Chalara Fraxinea) Disease This disease will result in the decline, death and removal of circa 37,400 Ash 
Trees in Caerphilly, many of which line our roadside verges and other high risk 
locations. 

Corporate Director 
Economy and 
Environment

Medium Medium Medium

CRR 06 - 
Dir for Economy & 
Environment

Local Development Plan The Counclis current LDP was due to expire on 31st December 2021.  A 
Replacement LDP was well advanced, however, the Council withdrew that plan 
in July 2016 following opposition to a number of development sites contained 
within the document.  The Council has resolved to progress the preparation of a 
Strategic Development Plan and a new LDP in parallel.  Work on the new plan 
has commenced, the delivery agreement has been approved by WG , the 
various working groups are progressing and regular member seminars are being 
held.

Corporate Director 
Economy and 
Environment

Medium Medium Medium

CRR 10 - Social Services 
& Housing Directorate

Welsh Housing Quality Standard (WHQS) 
programme

Everyone in Wales should have the opportunity to live in a good quality home 
within a safe and secure community. To help achieve this, the physical standard 
and condition of existing housing must be maintained and improved to the 
Welsh Housing Quality Standard (WHQS).  Meeting the revised completion 
deadline is critical for Caerphilly tenants.

Corporate Director 
Social Care & 

Housing

Low Low Low

6

P
age 10



CMT - Risk Register
Last Quarter Risk 

Level
Current Risk 

Level

Risk ID Risk Name Risk Description CMT Lead Officer Q4 2021/22 Q1 2022/23
Well-being Risk 

Level

Caerphilly CBC Corporate Risk Register

Count Number and 
Category of Risks

Q4 2021/22 Q1 2022/23
Well-being Risk 

Level

Low 1 1 1
Medium 8 8 5

High 4 4 7
New (Not 

Categorised) 0 0 0
Unknown 0 0 0

To Be Updated 0 0 0
TOTAL 13 13 13

Q4 2021/22

1

8

4

000
Low

Medium

High

New (Not Categorised)

Unknown

To Be Updated

Total 
Count

13

7

P
age 11



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 12



 
 
 

JOINT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - 10TH NOVEMBER 2022  
 
 

    
SUBJECT: ANNUAL SELF-ASSESSMENT REPORT (INCLUDING  

WELL-BEING OBJECTIVES) 2021/22 

 
REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR OF EDUCATION AND 

CORPORATE SERVICES  
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 

1.1 To present Scrutiny with the Annual Self-assessment Report for 2021/22. The report 
also includes an update of the Well-being Objectives for 2021/22. 
 

1.2 The Local Government and Election (Wales) Act 2021 requires a draft of the self-
assessment to be approved by Governance and Audit Committee prior to coming to 
Joint Scrutiny.  The draft attached (Part 1, Appendix 1) was approved by Governance 
and Audit Committee on 11 October 2022. 
 

1.3 Following Scrutiny, the report will go on to be presented to Council on 24 November 
2022. 

 
 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 The self-assessment report is a statutory requirement under the Local Government 

and Elections (Wales) Act 2021. It is an important part of the Council’s performance 
framework. This is the first time the Council has been required to produce a self-
assessment report which replaces the former Annual Performance Report. 

 
2.2 The Council is required to assess its own performance and provide the public with a 

balanced picture of that performance.  
 

2.3 The Council must also report progress against the six Well-being Objectives set out 
within the Corporate Plan 2018-2023. This report includes an update on the fourth year 
of the Corporate Plan. 

 
 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
3.1 Members review the Self-assessment Report (including Well-being Objectives) 

2021/22 (Appendix 1) and discuss, challenge, and scrutinise the information 
contained within. 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4



 
 
4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 The Council has a statutory duty to publish a self-assessment report and it should be 

made available as soon as reasonably practicable after the financial year to which it 
relates.  

 
4.2 The Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 replaces the improvement 

duty for principal councils set out in the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009. 
The new approach as set out in the Act is designed to be a more streamlined, 
flexible, sector-led approach to performance, good governance and improvement. 
The intention is for councils to be proactive in considering how internal processes 
and procedures should change to enable more effective planning, delivery and 
decision-making to drive better outcomes.  

 
Under the Act we have duty to keep performance under review the extent to which 
we are fulfilling the ‘performance requirements’ that is, the extent to which we are:  

 

 exercising our functions effectively. 

 using our resources economically, efficiently and effectively. 

 has effective governance in place for securing the above 
 

4.3 Scrutiny Members are involved in the ‘self-assessment’ process by scrutinising the 
information within the report. This supports the principles within Part 6, Chapter 1 of 
the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 statutory guidance. 

 
4.4  The guidance says that council executives should welcome and encourage scrutiny 

inquiries to make recommendations for system improvements. The aim is to support 
councils to build on existing strengths and to support them to achieve a more 
innovative, open, honest, transparent and ambitious sector, challenging itself and 
collectively driving up service delivery outcomes and standards. 

 
4.5 The guidance also states that principal councils are responsible for: 
 

 Conducting robust self-assessments and reporting on the extent to which the 
council is meeting the performance requirements in order to improve the social, 
economic, environmental and cultural well-being of its local communities.  

 Setting out any actions to increase the extent to which the council is meeting the 
performance requirements, including, for example, the role of scrutiny in 
challenging and driving the extent to which the performance requirements are 
being met.  

 Scrutiny committees are a key part of offering constructive challenge to how a 
council is performing and how it organises itself in the delivery of sustainable 
services. Scrutiny committees, as well as internal audit, will be a key part of a 
council’s self-assessment. 

 
 
5. THE REPORT 

 
5.1 This report introduces the Annual Self-assessment Report (including  

Well-being Objectives) 2021/22 (Appendix 1). 
 

 

Page 14



5.2 The intention of self-assessment is to provide and act on organisational learning and 
provide an ongoing process of review about how good our performance is and where 
it could be better. From this learning we produce a self-assessment report.    

 
5.3 The statutory guidance says that self-assessment can be achieved by using 

intelligence already held corporately in an insightful way and reflecting at a strategic 
level on how the council is operating, and what action is needed to ensure it can 
continue to provide effective services now and for the long term.   

  
5.4  The Council’s Performance Framework has been developed to meet several 

strategic and operational needs as well as to meet the legislation and further the 
Council’s desire to be a high performing learning organisation focused on meeting 
the needs of its residents.   

 
5.5 The Council was involved in the creation of the statutory guidance, so the Directorate 

Performance Assessments (DPA) and the Corporate Performance Assessment 
(CPA), key documents in our Performance Framework, were designed with this in 
mind.  Much of the information contained within the report is sourced from the DPA’s 
and CPA, in addition to other council reports, including the Annual Governance 
Statement and Financial Reports.  
 

5.6 The self-assessment process will produce a summary of the learning which has 
emerged from the self-assessment process.  We have chosen a range of information 
to use that will be reviewed to reach our conclusions under the following headings: 

 
 Corporate Planning 

 Financial Planning 

 Workforce Planning 

 Procurement 

 Assets 

 Risk Management 

 Performance Management 
 Oter Key Council Health Checks 

 
5.7 The report also includes a progress update of the six Well-being Objectives 

contained within the Council’s Corporate Plan (2018-2023), which was endorsed by 
Cabinet in April 2018. The Objectives will remain in place until 2023. 

 
5.8 Each of the six Well-being Objectives has a series of outcomes which sets out what 

the Council hopes to achieve on behalf of citizens. This report sets out the progress 
made against those six objectives during 2021/22.   

5.9 As part of the self-evaluation process that underpins the report the Council has set 
out in each section of the Well-being Objective:  

 What went well this year 
 What did not go well and what have we learned  

 What difference have we made 

 Our focus for the future  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 15



5.10 Summary of progress of the Well-being Objectives 
 

Well-being Objective Summative 
Judgement 

1. Improve education opportunities for all Progressing well 
2. Enabling employment Progressing well 

3. Address the availability, condition and sustainability 
of homes throughout the county borough and provide 
advice, assistance or support to help improve people’s 
well-being 

Progressing well 

4. Promote a modern, integrated and sustainable 
transport system that increases opportunity, promotes 
prosperity and minimizes the adverse impacts on the 
Environment 

Progressing well 

5. Creating a county borough that supports a healthy 
lifestyle in accordance with the Sustainable 
Development Principle within the Well-being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

Progressing well 

6. Support citizens to remain independent and improve 
their well-being 

Progressing well 

 
 
5.11 Conclusion   

 
The self-assessment provides a platform to celebrate the activity that has gone well, 
reflect on the areas that need to be improved and to identify new approaches and 
interventions to support future progress. 
 
The past few years have provided a number of significant challenges as we 
navigated through a global pandemic. Overnight, at the start of covid, we turned our 
organisation on its head – introducing many new services and turning others off 
within a matter of hours – all to meet the new and urgent needs of our community.  
 
We responded quickly and we responded together. Throughout this time, we saw 
first-hand the forceful impact of Team Caerphilly - bound together through a shared 
purpose and desire to do whatever was needed to protect our people and place.  
 
Now, as we emerge from covid we are faced with new challenges such as the cost-
of-living crisis, the climate emergency, social care pressures and ongoing budgetary 
pressures which are expected to worsen over the coming years. 
    
The Council’s Performance Framework has been developed to meet several strategic 
and operational needs, as well as to meet the legislation.  It is an ongoing process 
that allows the Council to act on organisational learning, review its performance and 
recognise where it could improve. 
 
 

6. ASSUMPTIONS 

 
6.1 No assumptions have been made or were thought necessary, for this report that are 

not already contained within the report.  

6.2 Unless a specific Well-being Objective is judged as delivered in its entirety, or 
assessment of data and public consultation responses change direction significantly, 

Page 16



it is assumed the Well-being Objectives will continue throughout the course of the 
remaining year of the Corporate Plan. 

 

7. SUMMARY OF INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

7.1 No Integrated Impact Assessment has been completed for this report although 
individual assessments may have been made to support activity within the Well-being 
Objectives.  Page 14 of the Self-assessment Report provides a brief update on our 
Welsh Language and equalities work.  Delivery of the Well-being Objectives 
maximises our contribution to all the national well-being goals including ‘A More 
Equal Wales’. 

 
 
8. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
8.1 Page 7 in the Self-assessment Report provides information on Financial Planning. 
  
 
9. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 There are no personal implications arising from this Report. 
  

 
10. CONSULTATIONS 

 
10.1 All consultation responses have been incorporated within this report. 
 
 
11. STATUTORY POWER  

 
11.1 Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 
 Well-being of Future Generations Act 2015 and associated statutory guidance  
 
 
 
Author:  Ros Roberts, Business Improvement Manager roberr@caerphilly.gov.uk

  
Consultees: Chrisina Harrhy, Chief Executive 

Dave Street, Corporate Director, Social Services and Housing 
Cllr Eluned Stenner, Cabinet Member for Finance and Performance 
Richard Edmunds, Corporate Director, Education and Corporate Services  
Mark S Williams, Corporate Director for Economy and Environment 
Steve Harris, Head of Financial Services & S151 Officer 
Sue Richards, Head of Education Planning and Strategy 
Liz Lucas, Head of Customer and Digital Services  
Lynne Donovan, Head of People Services 
Rob Tranter, Head of Legal Services 
Kathryn Peters, Corporate Policy Manager 

 Keri Cole, Chief Education Officer  
Rhian Kyte, Head of Regeneration and Planning  

 Nick Taylor-Williams, Housing Services Manager   
Rob Hartshorn, Head of Public Protection, Community & Leisure Services 
Marcus Lloyd, Head of Infrastructure 

Page 17

mailto:roberr@caerphilly.gov.uk
mailto:roberr@caerphilly.gov.uk


Paul Warren, Strategic Lead for School Improvement 
Gareth Jenkins, Assistant Director - Head of Children's Services 

 Tina McMahon, Community Regeneration Manager 
Jeff Reynolds, Sports & Leisure Facilities Manager 
Clive Campbell, Transportation Engineering Manager 
Paul Cooke, Senior Policy Officer 
Anwen Cullinane, Senior Policy Officer Equalities, Welsh Language and 
Consultation 

 
 
 
Background Papers: 
 
Corporate Plan 2018-2023 

 
Statutory guidance on Part 6, Chapter 1, of the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 
2021 
 
 
Appendices: 
 
Appendix 1 Annual Self-assessment Report (including Well-being Objectives) 2021/22  
 

Page 18

https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/CaerphillyDocs/Council-and-democracy/corporate-plan-2021-22.aspx
https://gov.wales/performance-and-governance-local-authorities-statutory-guidance
https://gov.wales/performance-and-governance-local-authorities-statutory-guidance


0 
 

APPENDIX 1  

Team Caerphilly 
BETTER TOGETHER 
 

Self-Assessment Report (including  

Well-being Objectives) 2021/22 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Part 1: Self-assessment Report 2021/22 

Page 19



1 
 

 
Section 1: Foreword from the Leader and Chief Executive 

 
2 

Section 2: Introduction 
 

3 

Section 3: How do we carry out our self-assessment? Our approach 
 

4 

Section 4: Monitoring Progress  
 

5 

Section 5: Our Key Learning from 2021/22 
 

6 

Section 6: Other Key Council Health Checks – Equalities and Welsh 
Language, Decarbonisation, Consultation and Engagement 
 

14 

 
Part 2: Well-being Objective Performance Report 2021/22 

 
Section 7: 
 

Introduction 
 

18 

Section 8: Annual Report on the Well-being Objectives 2021/22 19 
 

 WBO 1:  Improve education opportunities for all 

 

19 

 WBO 2:  Enabling employment 24 

 WBO 3:  Address the supply, condition and sustainability of 

homes throughout the county borough and provide 
advice, assistance or support to help improve people’s 
health and well-being  

28 

 WBO 4:  Promote a modern, integrated and sustainable 

transport system that increases opportunity, promotes 
prosperity and minimises the adverse impacts on the 

environment 

32 

 WBO 5: Creating a county borough that supports a healthy 
lifestyle in accordance with the Sustainable 
Development Principle within the Well-being of Future 

Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
 

35 

 WBO 6:  Support citizens to remain independent and improve 
their well-being 

41 

Section 9: How to contact us 
 

44 

  

Page 20



2 
 

Part 1: Self-assessment Report 2021/22 

Section 1: Foreword from the Leader and Chief Executive 
__________________________________________________ 

Welcome to our self-assessment report, which provides an important opportunity for us to reflect 
on our performance over the past 12 months and consider the future direction of travel of the 

organisation. 
 

Caerphilly County Borough Council is a large and diverse organisation delivering a wide range of 

key services to our community. Over recent years we have developed a ‘Team Caerphilly’ ethos 
which helps unite us and provides a shared ambition for the council to strive to deliver excellence 

in everything we do. We are a modern, innovative, and forward-thinking organisation which 
places the customer and citizens at the heart of all we do. Our ‘Team Caerphilly’ operating model 
is based on the principle that we have a commercial head and a social heart, and this guides 

everything that we do together. 
 

This annual self-assessment process is a new requirement of the Local Government and 
Elections (Wales) Act 2021 and provides a new way for local councils to assess and report on 
their effectiveness. We recognise that there is always room for improvement and this self-

assessment process allows us to examine and scrutinise the way we operate to ensure that we 
address any issues and learn lessons as we move forward. 
 

The past few years have presented a number of significant challenges as we navigated through a 
global pandemic. Overnight, at the start of COVID-19, we turned our organisation on its head – 

introducing many new services and turning others off within a matter of hours – all to meet the 
new and urgent needs of our community.  We responded quickly and we responded together. 
Throughout this time, we saw first-hand the forceful impact of Team Caerphilly - bound together 

through a shared purpose and desire to do whatever was needed to protect our people and 
place.  
 

Now, as we emerge from the pandemic, we are faced with new challenges such as the cost-of-
living crisis, the climate emergency, social care pressures and ongoing budgetary pressures 

which are expected to worsen over the coming years. 
    

Set against this difficult background, we have necessary duty to keep our performance under 
review to ensure we exercise our functions effectively, use our resources economically, 
efficiently, and effectively and have effective governance in place.  
 

You will see from the results of this self-assessment that we are already addressing all of these 

things.  However, this process helps us to identify our strengths, as well areas where we can do 
better, so that we can improve our ability to fulfil these functions further.   
 

We are currently experiencing a range of pressures and challenges, and these are likely to 
continue for the foreseeable future, but we do so safe in the knowledge that we will respond as a 
robust and resilient organisation, working together for the good of all. As one, as Team 

Caerphilly.    
 

 
 
 

 

Cllr Sean Morgan 

Leader of the Council 

Christina Harrhy 

Chief Executive 
Page 21



3 
 

Section 2: Introduction 
_________________________________________________ 
 
Welcome to the Caerphilly County Borough Council’s first annual self-assessment.  In 2021 The 

Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act came into law and set out a new approach for how 
Council’s assess and report on their effectiveness. 

 
The legislation is designed to be a more streamlined, flexible, sector-led approach to 
performance, good governance, and improvement. The intention is for councils to be proactive in 

considering how internal processes and procedures should change, to enable more effective 
planning, delivery, and decision-making to drive better outcomes.  

 
In the Act, there is a duty to keep under review, the extent to which the Council is fulfilling its 
performance requirements, that reflects on the extent to which the Council  

 

 is exercising its functions effectively. 

 is using its resources economically, efficiently, and effectively. 

 has effective governance in place for securing the above.  

 
The Council must publish a Self-Assessment Report once in every financial period, which 
considers the main learning points, and what it will do to improve upon them. The Self-

Assessment Report is a way of critically, and honestly, reviewing its current position, to make 
decisions on how to secure improvement for the future. This Self-Assessment Report replaces 

the former Annual Performance Report.  
 
This report can be viewed as the Council’s internal assessment for improving its effectiveness. 
 
The Council key messages from page 6, are framed around the 7 core set of activities that are 

common to the corporate governance of public bodies as outlined in the Well-being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (‘the Act’) Guidance, and more information can be found from this 
link. 

  

Page 22

https://gov.wales/well-being-future-generations-guidance
https://gov.wales/well-being-future-generations-guidance


4 
 

Section 3: How do we carry out our self-assessment?   

Our approach 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

The intention of self-assessment is to provide and act on organisational learning and provide an 

ongoing process of review about how good our performance is, and where it could be better. 
From this learning we produce a Self-Assessment Report.     
 

We have chosen a range of information to use that will be reviewed to reach our conclusions, 
such as performance data, complaints, and finance data. Where possible, we aim to use existing 

sources of information to provide a joined-up approach. 
 
Self-assessment is achieved by using intelligence in an insightful way and reflecting on how we 

are operating, to identify and take actions that may be needed, to ensure we can continue to 
provide effective and efficient services now and for the longer term.   

 
To inform our self-assessment it is important for us to know the following: 

 

 What went well and why? 

 What did not go well and why? 

 What impact have we made and how do we know? What difference have we made? 

 What have we learned?  

 What actions do we intend to take in the next period to ensure that we are meeting our 
performance requirements? 

 

An important tool in how we assess our performance, is the use of a ‘Corporate Performance 

Assessment’, or CPA, which is a high-level strategic dashboard that includes a range of 
information to give a ‘snapshot’ of performance across the organisation. This is compiled from 
key data reported in several Directorate Performance Assessments (DPAs), from which, each 

directorate within the authority, provides a range of information to keep progress under review, 
provide knowledge, manage resources, and risks, providing intelligence to answer the question, 

what are we learning? and what are we doing about that learning? 
 
Using a variety of data sets in one focused output, can help us better understand potential causes 

and effects of situations, so that data is not seen in isolation, and it can assist the pick-up of cause-
and-effect correlations. It is about providing us with a rounded and balanced view of intelligence 

across the authority.    
 
In addition to the information gathered in the DPAs, we include other sources of information such 

as, Annual Equality Reports, the Annual Governance Statement, Complaints data, The Local 
Authority Social Services Annual Reports, evidence from inspection and regulatory sources, 

including reports from Estyn, Audit Wales, and Care Inspectorate Wales, and other public interest 
reports where appropriate, although this list is not exhaustive.  

What we have learned from previous years reporting, is that we have a very large pool of 
evidence around how we are performing and publishing all that data would be difficult to make 

such a large document accessible. This document seeks to address that issue, by providing a 
high-level summary statement that assesses our performance the from intelligence gathered 

through our internal monitoring and assessments.   

  

Page 23



5 
 

Section 4: Monitoring Progress  
 

We make a draft of our self-assessment report available to our Governance and Audit 
committee. The committee must review the draft report and may make recommendations for 
changes to the conclusions or action.   

The Governance and Audit function is to gain assurance that processes are in place and are 
effective.  They can challenge and suggest changes to the conclusions, for example if they 
believe there is further learning that should have been included.    

They can also suggest different actions to address an area of improvement and review if these 
are the right actions for effectiveness. Governance and Audit committee can also refer items to 
the councils other Scrutiny’s if they believe an area requires a more detai led look. 

The Councils Self-Assessment went it’s to Governance and Audit Committee for their review 
and the Committee endorsed the Council’s Self-Assessment Report on 11 October 2022 in 
accordance with part 6, section 91 of the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2020.  

The graph below shows the system of which most of our information flows through to inform the 

high-level self-assessment and how actions to take forward within our self-assessment will be 

monitored.  

 

 
 
  

Page 24



6 
 

Section 5: Our Key Learning from 2021/22 
___________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Corporate Planning  
 

The Council’s current Corporate Plan 2018-2023 concludes next year and as such, work is 
underway to develop a replacement plan for the period 2023-2028.  As a 5-year plan, the Council 
will be looking to the longer term, asking what will make a difference, and conducting consultation 

activities to establish what matters to our residents, as a basis of the new plan.  
 

Progress reported against the Council’s current six Well-being Objectives over the last twelve 
months summarises a judgement below:   
 
Well-being Objective Summative Judgement 

1. Improve education opportunities for all Progressing well 

2. Enabling employment Progressing well 

3. Address the availability, condition, and sustainability of 
homes throughout the county borough and provide 
advice, assistance, or support to help improve people’s 

well-being 

Progressing well 

4. Promote a modern, integrated, and sustainable 
transport system that increases opportunity, promotes 

prosperity, and minimizes the adverse impacts on the 
environment 

Progressing well 

5. Creating a county borough that supports a healthy 

lifestyle in accordance with the Sustainable Development 
Principle within the Well-being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015 

Progressing well 

6. Support citizens to remain independent and improve 

their well-being 

Progressing well 

 
The full report of progress can be seen on part 2 of this Self-Assessment (page 17). 

 
In addition to progressing the Council’s six Well-being Objectives, the Council has continued to 
respond to the significant workforce and community challenges associated with the COVID-19 

pandemic, dealt with the emerging humanitarian crisis associated with the Ukraine War, driven 
forward an ambitious transformation programme, as well as undertaking considerable work to 

ensure that it meets all relevant legislative requirements.  
 
This legislative work has seen the Council undertake 

 

 the preparatory work for the implementation of the new Local Government and Elections 

(Wales) Act 2021 

 the publication of a new Welsh Language Strategy 2022-2027 as required by standards 

145 and 146 of the Welsh Language Standards (No1) Regulations 2015 

 the publication of our Strategic Equality Plan 2021 to 2024 under the Equality Act (Wales) 
Regulations 2011 

 the publication of the Welsh Language Annual Monitoring Report under current legislation 
and in compliance with Standard 158 

 the Annual Performance Assessment of our agreed Well-being Objectives under the Well-
being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

Page 25



7 
 

 
 

 the preparation of a Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) 2022-2032 under Section 

84 of The School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013 that complies with The 
Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (Wales) Regulations 2019 and The Welsh in Education 

Strategic Plan (Wales) (Amendment) (Coronavirus) Regulations 2020 

 the publication of an Annual Monitoring Report for the Local Development Plan (including 

the Annual Community Infrastructure Levy Report) to comply with the requirements of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, the LDP (Wales) Regulations 2005, the 
Strategic Environment Assessment Directive, and the Community Infrastructure Levy 

Regulations 2010 

 the submission of the 2020/21 Financial Accounts to the Auditor General by 30 November 

2021 in accordance with current Welsh Government guidance 

 
The Council has also been heavily involved in developing its partnership working arrangements, 
having supported the development of a Corporate Joint Committee (CJC) for South-East Wales, 
as well as the establishment of a Gwent Wide Public Services Board, which Caerphilly supports. 

 

Actions to take forward for corporate planning 

Activity  By When  

To Implement a new Corporate Plan 2023-2028 May 2023 

To Publish a new Public Services Board Well-being Plan and Local 

Delivery Plan  

May 2023 

 

Financial Planning 
 
The Council has a strong financial position, is considered financially resilient, and has maintained 

a strong liquidity position, assets versus liabilities, for several years.  
 

The Council is prudent and transparent in its budget management approaches, reporting its in-
year budget forecasts through Scrutiny Committees and Cabinet, as well as presenting reports 
on several other key areas including, Usable Reserves, Treasury Management, and the Capital 

Strategy. 
 

The Council has experienced higher than usual underspends against its budgets in recent years 
with a corresponding increase in the level of usable reserves. However, these underspends are 
largely attributable to significant additional grant funding provided to the Council in response to 

the COVID-19 pandemic, along with temporary reductions in service levels in some areas.  
 

The Council has not yet, developed sufficiently explicit links between its Corporate Plan, Medium-
Term Financial Plan and Transformation Programme, but work is now underway with the new 
Cabinet to align these key strategic documents. 

 
The Council has set aside funding to support the delivery of its Well-being and Place Shaping 

Programme, which includes, new school builds, the development of respite facilities, improving 
the quality of the highway infrastructure, and the development of the replacement Welsh Housing 
Quality Standards Programme. However, there are challenges currently being faced by our public 

services, in, recruiting to critical internal roles, attracting contactors to undertake works, the 

Page 26



8 
 

increased costs and delivery timescales for materials across global supply chains, which all 
impacts upon the pace and cost of these planned investments and deliveries. 
 

The Council has a strong track record of delivering against savings plans. However, the current 
cost of living crisis, and associated significant increases in inflation, will put unprecedented 

financial pressures on both the Council and its communities, and it will, therefore, be essential 
that the Council Transformation Programme delivers at pace and scale. 
 

The recent price increases in household energy bills combined with higher costs for food 
shopping and the price of fuel, has and will create significant challenges for many residents, 

especially those already in need. This is likely to translate into additional demand on services 
resulting in further financial pressures for the Council moving forward. 
 

As part of the process of reviewing and updating the Medium-Term Financial Plan, a review of 

usable reserves will be undertaken to identify any funding that can be repurposed moving 

forward. Alongside this, the Council’s Reserves Strategy will also be updated to ensure that it 

remains fit-for-purpose in the context of the current challenging financial climate.  

Actions to take forward for financial planning  

Activity  By When  

Strengthen the links between the emerging Corporate Plan, the 

Council’s Medium-Term Financial Plan, and the TeamCaerphilly 
Transformation Programme 

March 2023 

 

Undertake a review of the Council Reserves Strategy March 2023 

Seek to progress the Council’s Well-being and Place Shaping 
Programme at pace 

Ongoing subject to 
individual 

Business Case 
approvals. 

 

Workforce Planning   
 

Workforce planning has grown in significance throughout the pandemic. During the pandemic, 
the Council found itself regularly redeploying its workforce to support the delivery of critical 

services and to introduce new services. Beyond the pandemic, we and other public service 
provider organisations are now facing challenges recruiting to critical roles.  

 
Nationally, salaries have not kept pace with inflation and the cost of living is adversely impacting 
on many staff. This directly impacts on recruitment and retention, with individuals attracted to jobs 

where their skills can now attract a higher salary. 
 

The Council has strengthened its approaches to workforce planning, agreeing a Workforce 
Development Strategy 2021-24 and an Employee Wellbeing Strategy 2021-24.  
The Council participated in an Audit Wales Workforce Study which has recommended 

improvements to workforce and succession planning, monitoring and review. 
 

The Council also introduced a staff benefits scheme and has collated a wide range of resources 
for staff, many of whom are residents, to assist with cost-of-living increases via its web pages.  
 

The Council is reviewing and modernising its recruitment and selection processes and has 
recently secured the appointment of over thirty apprentices.  Work is also underway to promote 

Page 27



9 
 

the Council as an employer of choice, to ensure that applications are received from strong 
candidates, specifically seeking out a career with Caerphilly County Borough Council.  
The approaches being introduced, are also delivering insight and evidence into what works well 

and what works less well, and this knowledge, will be used to assist the Council with the current 
workforce challenges relating to recruitment. 

 
The Council has recognised numerous skills gaps across a range of roles and is exploring 
opportunities to develop and implement strategies to extend the breadth and depth of knowledge 

across its workforce, as well as embedding modern management and leadership skills. 
 

Across the Council, sickness absence rates have increased to around 14 Full Time Equivalent 
Days (FTE) per year, and although this mirrors the national picture, will now be subject to a 
review as noted in the action box below.   

 
The pressures on workforce do not end there. The impact of increased demand for NHS 

services, for example, is directly impacting the level of resources that Council needs to provide 
for Domiciliary Care.  A review of unscheduled care is taking place by Audit Wales.  
 

Welsh Government’s new Programme for Government is also placing further pressures on 
resources that are already stretched. Helpfully, Welsh Government is seeking to engage Local 

Government with a view to understanding, and potentially removing unnecessary bureaucratic 
burdens and barriers. This is welcomed.  
 

Actions to take forward for workforce planning 

 Activity  By When  

Deliver the Workforce Development Strategy 2021–24 Action Plan 2024 

Deliver the Employee Wellbeing Strategy 2021–24 Action Plan 2024 

Review and modernise the recruitment process  Autumn 2023 

Embed workforce planning across the organisation Autumn 2023 

Embed annual apprenticeship recruitment Ongoing 

Embed and formalise agile working practices  Early 2023 

Review our Human Resource Policies relating to agile working Early 2023 

 

Procurement 
 

Over this reporting period, our Procurement Team have progressed several significant 
programmes of work. The team have put in place a Social Value Policy, which aims to gain 

additional community benefits, through use of the Council’s third party spend, using a suite of 
Themes, Outcomes and Measures (TOMs) which have been formally adopted via the Social 
Value Portal.  The work of the Procurement Team is supported by the Supplier Relationship 

Officers who support small and medium businesses and the wider foundational economy in 
bidding for business, which, in turn, strengthens our local supply chain and economic growth.  

 
In addition, we continue to be actively involved with a National TOMs Framework for Wales 
through the Welsh Local Government Association, supported by the National Social Value 

Taskforce Wales (NSVT Wales), which is a stakeholder forum comprising of public sector bodies 
including Welsh Government (Community Benefits Team), The Future Generations 

Commissioner, Transport for Wales, as well as a number of other Councils and Housing 
Associations.  
 

Page 28



10 
 

The purpose of TOMS has been designed to help measure and maximise the social value 
created through the delivery of services across the 7 Well-being Goals of the Well-being of 
Future Generations Act, and importantly, allows organisations to measure and report value 

created as a financial contribution to society.  
 

The Council has continued as the procurement lead for Welsh Governments EdTech 
Programme. The EdTech Programme delivers the supporting connectivity, in-school 
infrastructure, cloud services, digital resources, and classroom skills to support the Curriculum for 

Wales, online safety, and cyber resilience. Caerphilly has led the £100 million plus programme of 
investment and has secured significant value for local authorities and schools across Wales 

through innovative procurement practice. 
 
Challenges this year have included changes to the supply chain which has seen rising costs of 

building and infrastructure materials.  The availability of contractors, material shortages and cost 
increases are having a significant impact on the ability of the Council to progress with key 

infrastructure development and building projects.  Contractors are increasingly declining to 
submit tenders. When submissions are received, costs are often above planned budget which 
requires further work to bridge the gap.  Where developments rely on grants, the knock-on effect 

is often a resubmission to the funding body which can add to further delays. 
 

All supply chains are currently experiencing significant price pressures due to the economic 
challenges across the world, such as, the war in Ukraine, COVID-19 pandemic, energy price 
escalations and Brexit. These pressures will be long lived and will impact our ability to deliver key 

projects including construction for the near future.  Going forward, procurement will require 
flexibility within contracts to deal with such situations as they become more prevalent. 

 

Actions to take forward for procurement   
Activity  By When  

To promote our Social Value Policy, publicising and raising awareness 

of embedding social value across our third party spend to gain benefits 
for our community from our spending power and to report on the 
outcomes.  

2023 

To deploy the changes in procurement legislation as part of 

procurement reform agenda and the Social Partnership and 
Procurement Bills.  

2023-2024 

 

Assets 
 
The Council continues to operate agile or modern working methods across a large proportion of 
its office-based workforce. This has been achieved through the prevalence of mobile access 

devices such as laptops and mobile phones, the flexibility of supporting policies as well as the 
availability of technology such as virtual meeting solutions like Microsoft Teams and Civico. 

 
As part of our post recovery work from the pandemic and the progression of agile working 
approaches, the Council has learned that a number of buildings currently in our portfolio, are no 

longer required. Daily occupancy at the Council’s main administrative building, Ty Penallta, has 
been at around 20 percent for the last two years. A recent capacity planning exercise that bui lt in 

future needs, raises this number no higher than around 45 percent. As the exercise has also 
indicated surplus capacity at several of the Council’s buildings, there is a clear opportunity to 
rationalise the Council’s estate, and reduce associated expenditure such as rent, heating and 

lighting. An Agile Working Programme continues to develop these approaches. 

Page 29



11 
 

 

As part of the Council’s Transformation Programme, the concept of face-to-face services being 

available to residents through a series of public service Community Hubs, has also been 

developing. These hubs hold the potential to provide multiple services across multiple providers 

from a single location, further reducing the number of buildings the Council requires to meet the 

needs of its residents.  

Audit Wales conducted a review called Springing Forward – Managing our Assets. Their 
summary concluded that the Council should focus on the development of an integrated longer-

term asset strategy. 

The Council has also adopted a Cloud Strategy which seeks to migrate the Council’s priority IT 
systems from on-premise hosting and support, to cloud hosting and support over the next 

financial year. This will change the makeup of the Council data centre and will also enable 
reductions in the Council’s server assets and associated energy and support costs. 

The Council has an Asset Management Plan that runs until 2026 and we have recently appointed 
a new Head of Service for Land and Property, who will help refresh and refine the Council’s 

approach to managing and using its buildings and offices. 

The Council recognises that it needs to now formalise its future assets intentions, as an 
integrated suite of plans and strategies. 

 

Actions to take forward for key assets  

Activity  By When  

Develop a longer-term Asset Strategy and assign resources to the 

delivery of the strategy.  

April 2023 

Evaluate the benefits of partnership working for a longer-term 
approach to a single public estate. 

December 2022 

Introduce agile working policies that support asset management and 

visa-versa 

December 2022 

Continue to expand and extend the Cloud Strategy beyond the high 
priority systems 

To be confirmed 

 

Risk Management  
 
The Council has an established Risk Management Process in place. Corporate Risks, which are 

the most significant risks facing the organisation are captured in the Council’s Corporate 
Performance Assessment. The risks are formally reviewed by the Corporate Management Team 

on a routine basis and the Corporate Performance Assessment information dashboards is 
reviewed by Cabinet on a six-monthly basis. 
 

Underpinning the Corporate Risks are a set of Directorate Risks. These are identified and 
monitored through the Directorate Performance Assessments, which are periodically reviewed by 

Directorate Management Teams on a quarterly basis, and during 2021/22 were also subject to 
review through numerous Scrutiny Committees. 
 

The Council’s new Governance and Audit Committee also monitor the Corporate Risk Register.  
 

Page 30



12 
 

The Council is in the process of revising the structure of its Corporate Risk Register and 
Directorate Risk Registers, with an emphasis on linking to the replacement Corporate Plan. This 
will improve the overall accessibility of information and ensure that mitigating actions are 

captured, whilst monitoring their levels of impacts and likelihood of occurrences, securing 
appropriate risk level controls through reviews. 

 
The Council finalised a revised and new Risk Management Strategy in January 2022 with new 
guidance approved by our Governance and Audit Committee.  The guidance is operational for 

services, to help identify, manage, and report on risks.  However, risk management is a cyclical 
and ongoing process, so the new Risk Frameworks, the Strategy and Guidance, will have to be 

updated to reflect any improvements as required through the decision-making processes during 
the Autumn of 2022. 
 

The Council used to deliver risk management training as part of business as usual, but 
unfortunately, the pandemic put a temporary pause on this. However, this now needs to be 

reinstated specifically for our new elected Council Members and Administration.   
During this time, much recruitment was often online, and new team members often worked 
remotely, so the Council will provide more training and awareness raising of the council’s 

financial regulations, decision making process, constitution, and other areas of governance, to 
help and ensure our employees understand how governance works.  This work will take place as 

part of our programme of Corporate Reviews. 
 
 

Actions to take forward for risk management   

Activity  By When  

Review the Corporate Risk Register and ensure the process allows for 
ease of connection between the directorates and high-level risks 

including the promotion of how to raise risks.  

April 2023 

Finalise and submit for adoption, the revised Risk Management 
Strategy and new Risk Framework following a review of the risks 

processes. 

July 2023 

Training Elected Members in risk management, processes, and ways 
to scrutinise them, to gain assurance of good governance and controls. 

 

September – Dec 
2023 

 

Performance Management 
 
The Council has a multitude of effective performance management arrangements in place, that 
helps it monitor, report, and scrutinise performance across such matters as 

 

 progress against Council priorities and strategic objectives 

 performance against key indicators 

 resource management, including people, finance, and other assets 

 customer insight, including complaints and compliments  

 and risk management 

 
Our Performance Framework, consists of a Corporate Performance Assessment (CPA) 
Dashboard, complimented by a series of Directorate Performance Assessments (DPAs) 

Dashboards.  These are all regularly reviewed by the Directorate Management Teams, Corporate 
Management Teams, Scrutiny Committees and Cabinet. 

Page 31



13 
 

 
These frameworks, provide a more focused and collective insight, with better intelligence and 
learning, which helps inform this overall self-assessment.  Recent reporting improvements have 

helped refine and better inform our self-assessment process, with a specific focus on evaluating, 
what has gone well, and what has not gone so well.  Subsequently, enabling and developing 

improved learning opportunities and agreeing more informed actions to drive ongoing 
improvement. 
 

With the new intake of Elected Members following the Local Government election in May 2022, 
the Council will now train and help develop those new members, in order to equip them to 

engage with and challenge the presented performance information. It is likely that this will centre 
on the Corporate Performance Assessment Dashboard with an all-member scrutiny being 
developed to support that broader challenge. 

 
The new Corporate Plan forthcoming will be developed over the coming months, and it will 

include a new set of Well-being Objectives that will be derived from the Corporate Performance 
Assessment Dashboard findings, and feedback from other consultations and engagements, 
providing an ongoing focus to address community needs, whilst also providing an opportunity for 

monitoring of progress built into the supporting infrastructure.  
 

The Council also intends to improve its data collection and data analysis capabilities, and as a 
result, has embarked on a digital programme that expands the use of various Microsoft platforms 
and tools, to build and show data in a way, that makes it easier to understand.  This is a medium-

term project of up to three years, with numerous pilot exercises already started which may 
improve data transfer, data automation, and data reporting, that can be replicated across the 

organisation.  
 

Actions to take forward from performance management  

Activity  By When  

Introduce a new Corporate Plan and embed into Performance 
Frameworks 

July 2023 

Train and equip Members to engage with the Corporate Performance 
Assessment and challenge performance via Joint Scrutiny 

2022-2023 

Further develop and streamline the collection, processing, analysis and 
reporting of data, using improved Microsoft digital platforms and tools 
throughout the organisation. 

2022-2024 

 
  

Page 32



14 
 

Section 6: Other Key Council Health Checks 

___________________________________________________________________________________________  

 

Equalities and Welsh Language 

 

The Council continues to deliver against the actions set in the Strategic Equality Plan 2020-2024, 
focussing on making services as accessible as possible and to engage more with our residents. 

 

The Council developed an Integrated Impact Assessment Template in April 2021, in accordance  
with the Socio-economic Duty.  This has helped ensure that services understand and consider 

the impact any proposals have on protected characteristics, the Welsh language, the Socio-
economic Duty, and the Future Generations Act.  By linking the assessment to the reports going 
forward for a decision, it ensures that decision-makers are well informed and able to understand 

the impacts of any transparent when it comes to our decision-making.  However, the Council will 
benefit from providing further support to Elected Members in understanding the purpose of 

impact assessments and to ensure that they are adequately scrutinised as part of the decision-
making process. 

The Council has integrated equalities and Welsh language into the Directorate Performance 
Assessments (DPAs) so that when reporting on progress by directorate, there is an integrated 

view of service delivery. 

The Welsh Language Standards Annual Report 2021-2022 showed that we received one Welsh 
Language complaint during this financial year.  The complaint raised a number of issues, the 

complaint could not be dealt with in Welsh by telephone, the complaints webpage only provides 
an email address as contact details and the Chatbot does not work properly on the website. The 
Council is addressing the points raised. 

The Council reviewed and updated its  Five Year Welsh Language Strategy 2017-2022 and this 

can be viewed on the website along with all supporting documentation. 

There was a slight increase in the number of Welsh speaking staff recorded on our HR system 
for 2021-2022 across all three directorates, however, a significant dip in the number of staff 

learning Welsh was recorded with only thirty-five registered.  This is the lowest figure the Council 
have recorded since it began collecting this data back in 2001.   

There is some work that needs to be done here, especially at a time when having staff with 

Welsh Language skills is so important to deliver bilingual services.  Following the Commissioner’s 
annual audit, the Council is now addressing a number of non-compliance issues.  The Council’s 
recruitment process was a particular focus with the Commissioner requiring an action plan, which 

you can see in our annual report.  Equalities (Annual Report 2020-2021) 

It is evident from the content of the report that there has been some progress during 2021-
2022.  Over the next 12 months the Council will be ensuring services are being delivered in line 

with the Welsh Language Standards.  The Council will also work with service areas to identify 
and address any Welsh Language training or Welsh Language skills requirements to deliver 

services. 

Page 33

http://sc-aptdken2/KENTICO10/getattachment/80a251cb-16dc-4f19-a8b5-16123fd8b22c/Strategic-Equality-Plan-2020-2024.aspx
http://sc-aptdken2/KENTICO10/Departments/Corporate-Policy-Business-Support-Unit/Socio-Economic-Duty.aspx
http://sc-aptdken2/KENTICO10/Departments/Corporate-Policy-Business-Support-Unit/Welsh-Language/Welsh-Language-Standards-Annual-Report-2021-2022.aspx
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/My-Council/Strategies,-plans-and-policies/Equalities/Welsh-language-Standards
http://sc-aptdken2/KENTICO10/Departments/Corporate-Policy-Business-Support-Unit/Equalities/Annual-Report-2018-2019.aspx


15 
 

  Decarbonisation  

 

 The Council declared a Climate Emergency in 2019 and approved a Decarbonisation Strategy 

and Action Plan in November 2020, setting the target of being Net Carbon Zero by 2030.  This 
strategy provides high level direction with 122 actions in the action plan identifying specific work 

across all parts of the organisation.  Despite making steady progress, the Council recognised in 
2021, to push this agenda forward with the speed required, that dedicated additional resources 
would be needed.  Specific decarbonisation budgets will need to be agreed and a 

Decarbonisation Team has been appointed which should be fully operational by the end of the 
calendar year.   

 
 In line with Welsh Government requirements, the Council has calculated and submitted its 

baseline carbon emissions for 2020/2021.  This has provided vital knowledge and 

understanding of our emissions and has enabled a focus on those areas that are responsible for 
our most significant emissions.  This new learning will influence the priorities given to various 

actions in the action plan 

 The Council is working on some significant projects to help achieve its decarbonisation 
objectives. These include the development of a 20MW solar farm in the south of the county 
borough.  This, when operational, will provide enough electricity to power around 6,000 homes.   

The Council also has an ambitious programme to decarbonise our vehicle fleet.  This is 
currently focussing on reducing vehicle numbers and reviewing smaller vehicles, where there 
are proven electric alternatives.  At the same time, the Council has the necessary charging 

infrastructure required to support vehicles transitioning to ultra-low emission alternatives.   

 It is clear from this work and other decarbonisation projects that the Council must increase the 
capacity and technical knowledge of decarbonisation, renewable energy, and climate change 

across the authority.  As a result, it is planning significant training and support for officers across 
the organisation to enable them to play a full part in this priority area. 

 

 Consultation and Engagement 

The Council is committed to ensuring high quality, citizen focussed services for the communities 

that comprise our county borough and effective engagement is central to the Council’s decision-

making processes.  Caerphilly’s Consultation and Engagement Framework sets out the approach 

for a common understanding to further improve engagement.  

(https://www.caerphi lly.gov.uk/CaerphillyDocs/Consultations/Consultation-and-Engagement-

Framework.aspx) 

The Council needs to ensure that it better engages with its communities, strengthening 

relationships and working together, to design and deliver services that meet the needs of its 

residents. To do this a number of actions has been identified and put in place. 

Page 34

file://///corporate.group.local/files/O-PP/Corporate%20Policy/PMU/06b%20Corporate%20Plan%202018-23%20and%20REPORTING/00.%20REPORTING%202018-2023/Annual%20Report%202022/Link%20to%20Caerphilly's%20Consulation%20and%20Engagement%20Framework
file://///corporate.group.local/files/O-PP/Corporate%20Policy/PMU/06b%20Corporate%20Plan%202018-23%20and%20REPORTING/00.%20REPORTING%202018-2023/Annual%20Report%202022/Link%20to%20Caerphilly's%20Consulation%20and%20Engagement%20Framework


16 
 

The challenges of the pandemic have propelled the Council into taking a more creative approach 

to engaging with communities. It has adopted a range of digital engagement mechanisms whilst 

still ensuring that those who are not digitally enabled can easily get involved if they so wish. 

Caerphilly is in the process of adopting a new platform that will allow it to deliver a range of 

methods to engage online including discussion forums, surveys, polling, Q&A tools etc. In 

2021/22 the Council became organisational members of the CoProduction Network for Wales, 

which reinforces the Council’s commitment to effective engagement with our various stakeholder 

groups.  

Caerphilly is working to align and streamline its strategic engagement and consultation activities 

and to take a more coordinated approach in the sharing of data outcomes from these. 

For example.  The proposed corporate Well-being Objectives, Public Service Board Well-being 

Plan, and resident feedback from the biennial far-reaching residents survey. 

The Council has set up an internal working group, with representatives from across the 

organisation, to audit skills, share examples of good practice, map ‘touch points’ with various 

stakeholder groups and provide consultation/engagement training.  

Caerphilly also launched a Community Empowerment Fund in direct response to resident 

feedback, which suggested communities would benefit from a local, ward-based fund to empower 

communities to undertake sustainable community projects to meet local need. The role of elected 

members is crucial to this process and the fund has so far (since its launch in September 2021) 

seen over 100 local community projects supported. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 35



17 
 

 

 

 

Team Caerphilly 
BETTER TOGETHER 
 

Part 2: Well-being Objective 
Performance Report 2021-22 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 36



18 
 

 Part 2: Well-being Objective Performance Report 2021/22 

 

Section 7: Introduction 

________________________________________________________________________ 

  
We have a five-year Plan 2018-2023 which has six Well-being Objectives.  They are:  

WBO 1: Improve education opportunities for all  

WBO 2:  Enabling employment  

WBO 3:  Address the supply, condition and sustainability of homes throughout the county 

borough and provide advice, assistance or support to help improve people’s health 

and well-being  

WBO 4:  Promote a modern, integrated and sustainable transport system that increases 

opportunity, promotes prosperity and minimises the adverse impacts on the 

environment 

WBO 5: Creating a county borough that supports a healthy lifestyle in accordance with the 

Sustainable Development Principle within the Well-being of Future Generations 

(Wales) Act 2015  

WBO 6:  Support citizens to remain independent and improve their well-being 

 

The objectives are areas we want to improve upon based on what you told us mattered to you 
and your well-being.  They are how we contribute to making the environmental, social and well-
being of our communities better.   

 
We are a large organisation, and we provide a range of services from cradle to grave to our 

approximately 180,000 strong residents of the borough. As you can imagine this means there is a 

lot of activity to be reported on, so in this annual report we highlight to the reader some of the 

main areas where we think we have performed well, where we need to improve, and what 

difference we are making.  We also tell you what we will focus on delivering for the last year of 

the five-year Plan.  

This report tells you how we have performed in delivering our Well-being Objectives in year four 

of the five-year Plan.   

You can find more detail and background to the Well-being Objectives in the Corporate Plan 

(2018 to 2023) at the link  Caerphilly - Caerphilly County Borough  

We would welcome your feedback and opinions and if there is any further content you would like 

to know about.  You can find contact details at the back of this document on page 44.  

 

 

 

Page 37

https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/My-Council/Strategies,-plans-and-policies/Improvement-Plan/Improvement-Objectives


19 
 

 

Section 8: Annual Report on the Well-being Objectives 2021/22 

________________________________________________________________________ 

   

Well-being Objective 1 – Improve Education Opportunities for All 
 

What went well this year 

 

Last year we delivered many successes, despite the ongoing challenges presented by pupil and 
staff absence as a result of Covid.  We continue to deliver during challenging times.  The 

collective performance of all involved has been remarkable.   

We initiated an independent external review of our Education Strategy, Shared Ambitions, 
providing an external check and assurance that we are on the right track with our improvement 

journey.  The outcome of this review will be shared with Scrutiny and Cabinet in the summer of 
2022. 

Reducing the impact of poverty has an increasing urgency particularly in Early Years, so we 

introduced a new Early Years Model in April 2021 with the purpose of ensuring access to 
support, irrespective of postcode.  It has been piloted with many partners such as midwifery, 
health visiting, childcare, and schools.  It has supported more vulnerable families across the 

borough than ever before with the benefits including improved child development, speech, 
language and behaviour.  Anxiety has reduced and families are beginning to feel more resilient. 

There is also a new Early Years and Childcare website offering a range of support tools for 

families. The Early Years model includes midwifery who have had capacity issues over the last 
years, and they are committed to moving forward with the development of an app to share 
information from the Local Authority and Health Board to families during their pregnancy.  A new 

website has also been developed for post-16 learners, so that they can access the range of 
support.   

There is a strong focus on raising standards of achievement, which is important to maintain in the 

light of disruption in learning.  Meetings to support and challenge schools as appropriate, have 
continued to take place and schools have been reviewed and revisited by Estyn in the last year.  
Two out of the three schools in the category of Significant Improvement have now been removed, 

with the report on the third school due to be published in August 2022.   In addition, all three 
schools previously under Estyn review have made sufficient progress to be removed from follow-

up monitoring.  We have no schools in a statutory category.   

We worked closely with the Regional Education Consortia, supporting schools to increase 
attendance and to prepare for the introduction of the Curriculum for Wales, and the 
implementation of the Additional Learning Needs Act in the coming year. 

We, and the Education Achievement Service, have introduced a new multi-agency ‘Team Around 
the School’ protocol so that additional support for schools can be co-ordinated wherever 
necessary. 

Page 38



20 
 

Some of our pupils who are unable to follow a traditional attainment path have benefitted from a 
broader range of choice this year as well as accessing appropriate formal and informal 
qualifications. 

Safeguarding processes continue to be prioritised and implemented, particularly where pupils are 

identified as vulnerable.  Risk assessed home visits have been a regular feature and face to face 
provision at schools and settings was well attended.  Well-being sessions were increased, and 

good relationships with staff allowed pupils to voice concerns and anxieties. Safeguarding audits 
have re-started and training sessions have met timescales. 

Digitally, many services were developed to give more online support as well as in-person to offer 

different ways to help children, young people and families. This gave a wider reach by targeting 
individual support to those who most need it. The Welsh Government EdTech initiative provided 
a big investment in IT and digital equipment for schools.  

As a result of the introduction of remote learning, digital skills have developed rapidly in some 

areas.  The EdTech Programme is an investment by Welsh Government to support the 
transformation of digital infrastructure in schools and has provided learners with the equipment 

needed to engage successfully with remote learning, and many benefits have been identified.  
These will be considered as schools and settings settle into a face-to-face environment, but also, 
will continue to enhance learning through remote learning and recorded lessons.  

Libraries remain committed to its spending on children and young adult stock items to support 

education and reading for pleasure and fully support the Welsh language and culture reflected by 
its richness and variety of library stock including e-Books and e-audiobooks. 

                    

During the Covid-19 closures, Library Services continued to support education and learning, 

offering alternative library services: Order and Collect, LibraryLink Home Delivery and browsing 
by appointment.  Digital visits were arranged by Community Librarians to schools reminding 
children of the library service. 

A total of 98% of library staff have completed Tier 2 Adult and Children Safeguarding training, to 
support vulnerable adults and children and signpost accordingly. 

We are taking positive action by transforming the education estate, through investing in a range 
of multi-million pound improvement programmes to school buildings through our jointly funded 

‘Sustainable Communities for Learning’ Programme (previously known as the 21st Century 
Schools and Colleges Programme) and other funding streams such as the Welsh Medium Grant.  

Our aim is to ensure the right schools are in the right place, for both educational and community 
usage and to manage the number of places in schools in line with local demand.  We deliver this 
in a number of ways, which include refurbishing and upgrading existing buildings, adding 

extensions, or replacing school buildings. We have a number of projects in progress and being 
developed which include a range of diverse and exciting improvements, including our plans for 

our first Net Zero Carbon School to replace the existing Plasyfelin Primary School and a new 
build replacement Ysgol Gymraeg Cwm Gwyddon Welsh Medium Primary School.   

Did you know?  

Library Services including computer use, 

remain free for children and young adults and 

libraries have child-friendly spaces that cover 

an age range from birth to teenage.  Children 

under 16 do not pay fines on overdue items 

and printing documents for homework 

remains free at all library sites. 

 

 

Page 39



21 
 

 

What did not go well and what have we learned  

 

Ongoing challenges presented by the pandemic created barriers to progress, some of which 

were significant.  Schools reported high pupil absence and increased persistent absenteeism and 
pupils have been unsettled and anxious, particularly those taking examinations.  The lack of 

routine, together with anxiety, have resulted in an increase of challenging behaviour, particularly 
in Secondary Schools and exclusions have risen. 

Despite having access to additional funding, it has often been difficult to recruit to new posts and 

there have been capacity issues in all service areas, which has, in turn, impacted upon 
programme deliveries and their timescales. 

The Adult Community Learning Team have significantly increased their online delivery, but face 
to face courses/classes are slow to return to pre-Covid numbers. We are actively promoting the 

service and working with key partners to target participants. 

Our number of young people not in employment, education or training increased to 2.2% (41 
people out of a group of 1888) however given the impact of the pandemic, this is still low. 

Sustainable Communities for Learning is a programme of school building projects such as an 

extension to a school or replacing an older building.  As Welsh Government money funds this 
work, to make sure the spend is right for the needs, the process is complex and must follow 

specific steps that are set out in law.  This means that it can take a long time before starting a 
specific project and when a project reaches the stage of going to the market for a supplier, we 
are finding that external influencing market factors (such as the war in Ukraine) are impacting the 

tendering process where costs can be significantly higher than the original budget allocated.  We 
are aware of these risks and are actively monitoring them to prevent any overall impact on the 
programme. 

Throughout this year, we have learned how important teamwork and staff morale is.  For 
example, many staff across the Council supported Education to deliver free school meals to 
identified families.  We have also had to appreciate the importance of learner well-being and 

being patient and innovative in how some pupils resume formal learning.  We have taken the 
opportunity to review our data systems so that transfer of information is more effective. 

 

What difference did we make 
 

In Early Years work, there are around 1400 children aged 0-7 being supported with individual 

support at any one time across the borough.  The numbers supported through Flying Start 
Outreach (outside of postcode area) has increased from 50 in previous years to 826 in 2021/22. 
This is making a difference to vulnerable families regardless of postcode.  

School leaders tell us they feel very supported by the Local Authority this year, as they were 
provided with helplines and coaching programmes, to help build their resilience.  Despite the 
disruption, there were relatively few class closures.  

School leaders also valued the support we provided during the pandemic period on health and 

safety advice, HR, blended learning, finance and support for vulnerable learners and families.  
Both Library Services and Adult Community learning are extremely valued by our communities 

and the successful transformation grant bid at Rhymney Library and the creation of the Idris 
Davies Learning Hub will act as a pilot for future services.  

The support for attendance helped to increase the percentages of attendance, and the most 
vulnerable pupils have been able to attend face-to-face sessions throughout. We also maximised 

Page 40



22 
 

opportunities to deliver professional learning remotely.  This meant a higher level of engagement 
in all meetings, particularly with Governors. 

A number of projects have progressed which have improved the learning environment this year. 
We have 5 proposals under the Sustainable Communities for Learning Programme at various 

stages of progression, one proposal for the enlargement and relocation of Ysgol Gymraeg Cwm 
Gwyddon is now at build stage having progressed successfully through the planning application 

process.   

Proposals for our exciting new replacement of Plasyfelin Primary School on the existing school 
site which will be our first Net Zero Carbon School is at the design stage along with our proposal 

to amalgamate Llancaeach Junior School and Llanfabon Infants School to form a new Primary 
school on the existing Llanfabon Infants School site and our expansion plans for Trinity Fields 
Special School and Resource Centre. We are establishing a new Centre for Vulnerable Learners 

(Pupil Referral Unit) on the former Pontllanfraith Comprehensive School site which is currently at 
Pre-Planning Application stage and out to planning consultation.  Plans for the next phase of our 

programme are currently being created, which will be outlined in more detail throughout 2023. 

Investment into Welsh Medium was strong in the borough and the Welsh Medium Capital Grant in 
region of £6.8 million is progressing improvement and expansion works at five Welsh Medium 
Schools.   

The Athletics Hub, located at Rhiw Syr Dafydd Primary School was completed consisting of a six 

lane 300 metre track and provision for sprint and field events.  This £755k investment is now 
available for bookings for educational and recreational use. 

A Capital Maintenance Grant (Welsh Government £10.8M Grant and Local Authority £1.4M 

Grant) Investment into schools, continues to be used for ongoing improvements works, which 
ensures ongoing maintenance and improvement of our existing physical buildings for a 
Structural, Health and Safety and Decarbonisation perspective as well as supporting curriculum 

development. 

 

Our focus for the future 
 

Officers working across the Local Authority work with partners to regularly evaluate performance 

with an ongoing focus on learner provision and progress.   

A revised education strategy is required, not only to address ongoing issues, but to re-set 
ambition and deal with the challenges which are long lasting and require key milestones that are 

effective and meet the needs of all learners. This process has led us to the following areas to 
focus on in the future: 

 Continue to provide robust approaches to safeguarding of children and young people based 
on emerging needs and demands as an outcome of the Covid-19 pandemic. 

 Equip leaders with the skills to have a significant impact on progress, attainment and 
provision and wellbeing. 

 Ensure the effective implementation of Curriculum for Wales and ALN Act. 
 Accelerate the progress of pupils who receive education outside a mainstream setting 

(EOTAS/EHE) 

 Reduce the number of young people post-16 without access to education, employment or 
training (NEETS). 

 Improve pupil attendance and reduce exclusions, with particular focus on vulnerable groups. 
 Further improve provision and support for young people (post-16) 
 Close the gap in attainment between those learners from low-income backgrounds and those 

who do not live in poverty.  

Page 41



23 
 

 Improve digital skills for all learners. 
 Reach the target of 26% of year 1 pupils in Welsh medium by 2031 
 Support pupil wellbeing by improving attitudes to healthy food choices and active fitness 

 Ensure the most vulnerable families including those in poverty, can access support to give their 
child the best start to their early years. 

 Through the Sustainable Communities for Learning Programme ensure that the County 
Borough provides sufficient school places to meet demand as well as upgrading/replacing 
school accommodation, as appropriate, so that schools are fit for purpose in the 21st century 

with a focus on working towards Net Zero buildings in line with Carbon reduction 
commitments. 

 Improve more efficient use of the education estate by both schools and the wider community. 
 Participate in a national Children and Young People Survey and use the results of the next 

satisfaction survey to inform our services for Libraries (planned for 2022). 
  

Page 42



24 
 

  Well-being Objective 2 – Enabling Employment  
 

What went well this year 

  

In the wake of the Covid-19 pandemic, 2021/22 has been another challenging year of the direct 
delivery of employment support and enabling employment within Caerphilly.   

Whilst employment opportunities themselves have improved significantly, engagement of eligible 

unemployed people within the borough has proved difficult.  This is partly a legacy of the 
pandemic, where many of the complex barriers to gaining employment that people face, (for 
example those with physical or mental health issues), were directly exacerbated by the pandemic 

and have resulted in many potential participants moving further away from the labour market. In 
addition, lockdowns, and general restrictions on public life throughout the pandemic may have 

contributed to decreased motivation to find work, within communities which may already have 
been experiencing cycles of worklessness and deprivation.  

Nevertheless, there has also been many positive developments to enabling employment on a 
more general scale, and from the opportunities developed within the Council. For example, 

performance in relation to employment of young people was positive, the Council has provided a 
range of new employment opportunities with placements and apprenticeships.  The Kickstart 

Programme was rolled out with success and there have also been positive developments in 
relation to procurement, housing stock investment and the Cardiff City Regional Deal alignment.     

255 participants have been supported into employment across the Communities for Work (CfW) 

and Communities for Work Plus (CfW+) Programmes. 

There were ongoing positive outcomes for 16-24 age group.  Engagement of young people was 
slightly under target of 96 for the year, with 80 achieved. We supported 73 young people into 
employment, this significantly exceeded the target of 48. There was a 62% “Into Employment” 

conversion rate (as an average across all programmes). The conversion rate refers to the 
percentage of those engaged that then gained employment, so although we didn’t reach our 

target for overall engagements, the ability to move people into employment once they are 
engaged is strong. 

Employment programmes also continued to provide excellent support for customers with 
disabilities and work limiting health conditions.  In particular, the CfW+ programme was able to 

increase the proportion of customers with a disability or work limiting health condition that were 
supported into employment, with 28% (45 people) of job entries relating to participants with either 

a disability or work limiting health condition.  

We were allocated an additional £558k from the Young Person’s Guarantee (YPG) Fund to 
expand the Communities for Work Plus programme. This additional funding allowed us to retain 

experienced and knowledgeable staff who were at risk due to the ending of their original funding 
streams. 

We have seen a surge in engagement activity within the last quarter of the current year, because 
of lessening restrictions. This resulted in our teams significantly increasing their presence in local 

communities, with mentors now able to offer, and encouraging face-to-face contact with all 
customers.  After a difficult period, this has been an extremely positive development and the 

benefits have been felt as referrals have slowly begun to grow again. We are now operating 

Page 43



25 
 

several weekly outreach sessions or drop-ins around the Borough, in addition to using staff as 
Single Points of Contact (SPOCs) to engage more effectively with internal and external partners.  
We continue to use social media to expand our reach and are planning larger scale community 

events for the coming year. 

We have supported local employers to grow by use of our Employment Support Programmes. 
Employers we have supported locally include Lovells, Kier Construction, QDL, Surf the Shop, and 

Transcend. This has included both placements and employment opportunities.  An example of 
this, is that we worked closely with a local contractor for the Council to match job opportunities to 
participants accessing the employment support programmes.  The council’s Academy Mentor 

was able to offer additional support to applicants to ensure their progression into these 
opportunities, for example by supporting them to access additional qualifications and collate the 

necessary paperwork to enable them to start in the role.  In one example, this additional support 
resulted in successful full-time employment.   

The Caerphilly Academy pilot is also now beginning to deliver as intended prior to the onset of 

the pandemic, with individuals supported into Kickstart positions, additional paid placements, and 
apprenticeships, with the support of the Academy Mentor proving central to the success and 
retention of these placements in many cases. 

There were eight unemployed young people who successfully gained employment through the 

Kickstart Scheme.  We supported the scheme by increasing the wage offered by the Department 
of Work and Pensions (DWP) from National Minimum Wage to Foundation Living Wage.  The 

Academy Team worked closely with departments to create job roles that would allow the 
successful applicant to gain the much-needed experience and knowledge to start a career in their 
chosen field.  We developed a smooth joining process for the successful applicants and 

introduced them to their future mentor at interview stage, so the relationship could continue to be 
developed.     

 

Procurement (purchasing) is an important way to provide wider benefits to the community and 
add ‘social value’ when we purchase.  We have put in place a ‘Social Value Policy to increase 

our contribution in this area. 

We have put in place a way to measure value called TOMS (Themes, Outcomes and Measures 
July 21) which helps us apply a consistent approach to measuring and reporting social value and 

community benefits and includes a number of outcomes such as, but not limited to, creating 
training, apprenticeships and employment opportunities in the use of local supply chains  

We have included TOMs in sixteen procurement procedures this year to generate opportunities 
for employment and will be able to report on specifically as to what difference this has made next 

year.   

An Innovative Housing Programme (IHP) is a Welsh Government (part) funded initiative, with a 

focus of Modern Methods of Construction to enable the building of new homes, which is currently 

in its 4th year, but 1st year for Caerphilly Homes, following the completion of the Welsh Housing 

Quality Standards (WHQS) funded programme in 2021/22. 

Social Value is a broad term used to describe social, 

environmental, or economic impacts (or benefits) of actions we 

take, for example using our ‘purchasing power’ to work with those 

we purchase from to recruit apprentices, where relevant to the 

purchase 

Page 44



26 
 

A Plot shop was approved in principle as part of the City Deal.  This is a new initiative adopted by 
some Councils, providing opportunities, and making it easier to access land and expert advice, 
pioneering custom and self-build housing, as a mainstream choice for aspiring homeowners. 

A Housing Investment Fund Principle was agreed, and as such we have submitted three 

schemes for consideration, with one scheme approved on the reserve list, two schemes 
approved to progress and one of these now progressing to planning application stage 

The Regional Employment Framework will be submitted to the Shared Prosperity Fund.  This will 

follow on from the Community Renewal Fund pilot which is currently being delivered within the 
2022/23 year; and should provide maintained employment support offer for the council following 
the ending of the of European Social Funded Projects in March 2023. 

 

What did not go well and what have we learned   
 

In the latter part of the year, our Employment Programmes suffered from a significant drop in 

referrals due to the introduction of UK-wide DWP Programmes Job Entry Targeted Support 
(JETs) and Restart, which have taken referrals away from our programmes, whereby there is 
pressure on work coaches to refer to the DWP programmes as a first option.  This drop in 

referrals has led to a subsequent and frustrating decrease in outcomes over the year; However, 
with the easing of restrictions in recent months we have been able to return to significantly 

increased levels of community outreach and face-to-face working, which we hope will produce 
results of higher referrals in the 2022-23 delivery year. 

We have also learned that we need to emphasise the importance for a smooth transition from the 
past several years Welsh Housing Quality Standards Work Programme, for housing stock 

improvements, whilst using appropriate employment opportunities, and moving forward into the 
Caerphilly Homes Housing Strategy and Housing Asset Management Plan (which are both long 

term programmes) that will require the upkeep of a skilled workforce availabilities. 

The learning on the Innovative Housing Programme sites is scheduled to be transferred to the 
next major new build project at the former Oakdale Comprehensive School and this time, the 

Council will require Willmott Dixon to provide a Social Value Plan setting out clear objectives and 
outcomes 

 
What difference did we make 

As part of our Housing Stock Investment, we recruited nine apprentices in January 2022 to 

support our in-house delivery team who have all settled in well and are developing their skills. 

We have introduced a range of employment support programmes, such as the Academy and 
Kick Start Programmes as noted under the ‘what went well’ section, which has secured 

employment.  

Training pathways (including Construction, Hospitality, Call Centre and Heavy Goods Vehicles) 
have been delivered, to support the upskilling of local people to meet demand in local 

businesses, via relationships formed by our Business Liaison Team. 

On two of our IHP funded pilot sites, Willmott Dixon recruited two trainees who are both 
employed full time. They have also contributed to other social value outcomes, such as 
supporting Trecenydd Community Centre, the Council’s Annual Foodbank Initiative and Welsh 

Government Employment Support Programmes delivered by the Council.  
 

Page 45



27 
 

Our focus for the future 
 

 We will grow our engagement capacity to ensure we are truly reaching the hardest to reach 
communities. This will become more important to the success of our work programmes, so 
we reduce reliance on referrals from Jobcentre Plus and engage those people who are 

reluctant to access mainstream job centre support.   
 Engagement plans for the coming year include growth of our Single Point of Contact 

(SPOC) network to raise awareness amongst potential referral partners and a return to 
larger scale events to raise the profile of our employment programmes and the 
development of an employment “shop” or hub within town centre(s). 

 We will incorporate the new funding from the Young Person’s Guarantee Fund to enable 
increased engagement of young people in the CfW programmes and effectively close 

down the European Social Funded (ESF) CfW programme, adhering to guidelines for 
document retention and financial closedown etc. 

 Develop succession plans to ensure maintenance of staff following the end of the ESF 

funded CfW programme, working with the Shared Prosperity Fund (SPF) to access 
replacement funding and ensure a seamless transition from one programme to the next. 

 To develop an Investment Plan under Shared Prosperity Fund to ensure Employment 

Support resource (currently funded via ESF) is maintained. 
 Publicise and raise awareness of embedding social value across the Council’s third party 

spend and become self-sufficient with our understanding and evaluation of social value 
using the Themes Outcomes and Measures (TOMs) Framework.  Feedback from our 
Supply Chain is positive on the TOM framework as it gives them much more flexibility as to 

what community benefits they can bring.      
 Continue to learn, develop and better understand TOMs in a ‘live’ environment over time  

 We will require a clear and concise Social Value Plan for all our future Housing 
developments.  

 We plan to advertise for ten more apprenticeship opportunities in September 2022. Our 

ability as a Council to offer quality apprenticeship opportunities to local people helps 
contribute towards the local economy, tackles worklessness and addresses poverty. 

  

Page 46



28 
 

 Well-being Objective 3  

Address the availability, condition, and sustainability of homes throughout 
the county borough and provide advice, assistance, or support to help 
improve people’s well-being 
 

What went well this year  
 

Although, disruption to our day to day working environment continued throughout this period, due 
to the Covid-19 pandemic and restrictions imposed by Welsh Government to protect public 

health, we have been able to successfully achieve many of our intended outcomes. 

We met the Welsh Government target date for ensuring our circa 10,500 tenants’ homes met the 
Welsh Housing Quality Standard, so homes are in a good state of repair; safe and secure; 

adequately heated, fuel efficient and well insulated. 

We enhanced levels of support to help people manage their accommodation and their money 
and provided financial support and advice to tenants and residents across the borough, mitigating 
the effects of welfare reform. 

One of our Housing Association Partners completed the redevelopment of the former Cwm Ifor 
Primary School, Penyrheol, creating 17 new homes built to Passivhaus standards. 

We exceeded our target for the financial savings that we helped our council tenants find, 
generating £3,207,624.88 of savings by March 2022. 

We and our Housing Associations Partners drew down £14.92M of Welsh Government grant 

funding to build new affordable homes, an increase on the initial allocation of £2.3M.  

The Caerphilly Keys Project continues to play a crucial role in the Council’s plan to prevent 
homelessness by providing access to good quality, affordable accommodation in the private 

rented sector. 

We provided various forms of support to people who were either potentially homeless or 
homeless including rough sleepers, to secure safe and affordable homes, with access to support 

services and financial assistance.  

We made great progress working in partnership with the Supporting People Team to develop the 
Housing First Initiative for people with complex needs. This project provides an inclusive 
approach to helping people obtain safe and secure accommodation with a package of support 

from a dedicated team. 

 

What did not go well and what have we learned   

  

Limited progress has been made to increase the percentage of social housing stock that has an 

accessibility code. This is because we are experiencing significant Housing Occupational 

Page 47



29 
 

Therapist staff vacancies, and this meant we were unable to make satisfactory progress 
throughout this period.   
 

Due to substantial issues with the availability of contractors and materials, we were unable to 
process and deliver the amount of grants and loans we intended for Private Sector Homes this 

year.  Additionally, the cost of materials has increased significantly, which has affected the 
number of private sector homes we were able to support. 
 

Restrictions linked to the pandemic and staff shortages in the Private Sector Housing Team have 
resulted in a backlog of proactive inspections of Houses of Multiple Occupation. 

Due to remote working it has proved difficult to provide energy efficiency advice to tenants in their 
own homes.  
 

Work on a Local Housing Market Assessment started but due to the release of new Welsh 
Government guidance, the work had to stop and will begin again in 2022 using a newer method. 

We learnt that we need to be more agile in our approach to everything we do, as it changes 
rapidly, and we need to build in resilience to our structure and working practices. 
We also need to improve how we advertise and recruit staff as we have a skills shortage in 

emerging areas for the business in the future and need to attract talent. 

 

What difference did we make 

We completed improvements to the remaining of our 10,660 homes to meet the Welsh Housing 

Quality Standard, which made our homes both internally and externally of good quality and 
suitable for the needs of existing and future residents.  

We supported over 4,000 council tenants, generating more than £3 million in savings, 

minimising the effects of welfare reform, and helping people claim the benefits to which they are 

entitled.  

 

Helped residents to reduce their debt by accessing more than £500,000 of Housing Support 

Grants, with a further £400,000 of additional income. This has a significant impact on the daily 

lives of Caerphilly’s residents.   

Worked with our Housing Association Partners who have been able to provide 62 new and 

affordable homes throughout the Borough to help alleviate housing need.  

Successfully engaged with over 80% of private rented landlords, to raise awareness of the 

energy efficiency standards, which supported their tenants to save money and increased the 
amount of environmentally friendly homes within the Borough.  

Completed 38 Valley Task Force Grants, bringing long-term empty homes back into use 

increasing the number of available homes. 

Received a £60,000 grant from Welsh Government to improve the living conditions of those in the 
private rented sector, where properties do not meet the current energy efficiency standards. This 
has allowed us to provide support to landlords, leading to a better quality of li fe for their tenants. 

Did you know?  

We helped almost 1,000 residents to access a total of £250,000 of winter 

fuel payments ensuring these residents can afford to heat their homes.  

 

Page 48



30 
 

Completed over 1,000 minor adaptations and almost 150 major adaptations, alongside a further 
105 Disabled Facilities Grants and nine stair lifts, helping residents to remain independent in their 
own homes. 

Assisted 231 elderly and disabled residents by accessing ‘Enable Funding’ and ‘Care & Repair’ 

services to support them to remain at home, increasing their level of independence. 

Improved the accessibility of three sheltered schemes, with ramped access to one, automatic 
doors to another and handrails to a third, enabling residents to live safely and independently. 

Facilitated the running of community surgeries in eight different locations across the borough, 

providing a range of support services, such as, financial help and housing advice and giving 
residents the chance to access our teams face-to-face. 

Received outline planning permission for two Caerphilly Homes led developments. The former 

Oakdale Secondary School delivering circa 85 new homes and the Ty Darren Older Persons 
Later Living Scheme in Risca delivering circa 46 new homes. 

We had approval from Welsh Government of our five-year Empty Homes Action Plan to assist 

bringing back into use, empty properties across the Borough. 

 

Our focus for the future 

 

 Implement a new IT system which will improve the type and level of data we collect, which 

will improve the services we provide to both tenants and residents.  

 We want a successful implementation of the Renting Homes (Wales) Act 2016, which will 

ensure compliance with new housing laws, making it easier for tenants to rents their 

homes and ensuring tenants know their rights and responsibilities. 

 Complete an Action Plan in response to the Tenant Satisfaction Survey.   

 Implement a new ‘Planned Asset Management Strategy’ (PAMS) which will maintain and 

continue the improvements made to our homes after the completion of the Welsh Housing 

Quality Standard, keeping our homes fit for purpose so that tenants live in safe and secure 

accommodation.  

 Start on associated work following the response to the consultation of Welsh Housing 

Quality standard 2023 focusing on decarbonisation of the housing stock by 2035. 

 Introduce a new Local Housing Strategy and Delivery Plan, which will provide the context 

and actions for the providing housing and housing related services throughout the 

borough. 

 Complete a new Local Housing Market Assessment, to provide an updated picture of 

housing need throughout the borough. 

 Submit the 2022/27 Gypsy Traveller Accommodations Assessment to Welsh Government 

for approval. 

 Provide support with the development of the second Council replacement Local 

Development Plan. 

 Adopt a Rapid Re-Housing Strategy and ensure that our Common Allocations Policy is 

reflective of any new priorities, to ensure a reduction in the time people spend in 

emergency accommodation, preventing accommodation breakdown, repeat presentations 

and relapses into substance misuse or offending 

 Work with Housing Association Partners to develop and deliver new affordable homes 

ensuring that we spend the record levels of social housing grant. 

Page 49



31 
 

 Support tenants and residents to manage their money, maximising income and reduce fuel 

poverty by making homes more energy efficient and exploring any available funding 

 We are hoping to achieve full planning permission to create a development of mixed types 

homes (affordable homes & market sales) on the former Oakdale Secondary School site. 

 Ty Darren is another site where we are hoping to achieve full planning permission for a 

Later Living Scheme. 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

  

Page 50



32 
 

 Well-being Objective 4 

Promote a modern, integrated, and sustainable transport system 
that increases opportunity, promotes prosperity, and minimises the 

adverse impacts on the environment 
 

What went well this year    
 

We completed a review of the Integrated Network Maps for Active Travel Routes, and the new 
Active Travel Network Map (ATNM) was approved by Cabinet January 2022 following extensive 

statutory and public consultation. This now sets the framework for a delivery plan for the next 15 
years and formal Welsh Government approval was also received in August 2022 

We progressed to Phase 1 of a jointly funded investment package with Welsh Government for 

Metro plus schemes across the region. The key project for the council within this programme is the 
Caerphilly Interchange. The Transport Interchange Project will provide Caerphilly with a new 

landmark, a gateway which welcomes new visitors while providing great facilities for passengers 
and the community (if we are able to secure the required funding).  
 

Phase 1 is the ‘concept design stage’ of developments and we have appointed an Architect to 
develop the concept design. Stakeholder and public consultation will be undertaken as part of the 
Caerphilly 2035 Plan, to inform the design. The UK Government’s Levelling Up Fund is being 

pursued as that would allow delivery of the new interchange by April 2025.  You can find out more 

about this at Have Your Say Today - Caerphilly Interchange - Commonplace 

 

A feasibility study for the Central Rhymney Line was commissioned by Transport for Wales and 

has been completed, the Rhymney line is part of the South Wales Metro Project (2019 to 2024).  

The final report is expected to identify proposals for which preliminary design options can be 

developed for the park and ride facilities at Llanbradach and Ystrad Mynach. This would be 

developed and consulted upon as part of the South Wales Metro programme.  

Consideration of the Nelson to Ystrad Mynach passenger services are expected to be reviewed 

as part of the wider strategic proposals being developed for the south Wales Metro.  This line is 

still currently used as a freight line, transporting coal from the opencast mine in Merthyr Tydfil 

Improvements to bus stops in the Mid Valleys and across the county borough area have been 

substantially delivered in 2021/22 with a further 96 bus stops improved.   A funding bid has also 

been submitted to improve the last group of bus stops (43) during 2022/23, that would complete 

the Bus Stop Improvement programme for the whole of the county borough. 

Despite the ongoing impact of the Covid-19 pandemic and safety restrictions, Transport for 
Wales (TfW) continue to progress a detailed design for the Core Valley Lines Transformation 

Programme, but a revised delivery programme is expected to be confirmed.  

Dialogue with Welsh Government and TfW includes both the longer-term aspirations for the 
Ystrad Mynach to Nelson rail line and the Caerphilly to Newport corridor Metro improvements. 

Through the Cardiff Capital Region Transport Authority (CCRTA), Officers are working with 
Welsh Government to identify future Metro strategic priorities.  

Page 51

https://caerphillyinterchange.commonplace.is/


33 
 

The outstanding works for the Ystrad Mynach to Penpedairheol and Cefn Hengoed active travel 
route (INMC24) has now been completed. 

The Experimental schemes for Nelson (one way, footway and cycleway) and Ystrad Mynach 
(Lewis Street cycleway) delivered in 2020/21 from WG's Sustainable Travel Covid-19 Response 

Grant, were made permanent.   

Virgin Media have continued to accelerate their lightning build throughout Caerphilly borough, 
where customers will be able to take benefit from the new Gig 1 service – delivering average 

broadband speeds of 516mbs download (50x faster than the standard UK broadband). BT 
Openreach continue to get to 25,000 customers ready for service (CRFS). As a result of all 

programmes across the county borough they are building on 38,500 full fibre connections. 

 

What did not go well and what have we learned   

 

The Covid-19 pandemic continues to have a significant impact on the country in many ways. 

Public transport services are still struggling to recover with patronage still significantly below pre-
Covid levels. Welsh Government are consulting on their proposals for strategic bus reform. The 

medium and long-term impact on strategic planning for future transport infrastructure and service 
improvements remains unclear. 

We learnt that protecting a route between Caerphilly to Newport, to potentially allow the 

reinstatement of a public transport route, is with TfW for consideration as part of their Metro 

Enhancement Framework. This is a long-term aspiration that will be reviewed as part of the 

Council’s emerging replacement Local Development Plan. 

TfW are still developing proposals for a four trains per hour service on the Ebbw Valley Railway 

that would require significant improvements to Newbridge station, with a view to delivery by 2024. 

TfW and Network Rail held public drop-in sessions to present their proposals. This includes 

improvements to Newbridge rail station and dualling of the track. 

 

What difference did we make  

 

The positive and substantial response to the Active Travel Network Map (ATNM) consultation 
demonstrates the appetite for Active Travel improvements across the country borough. The 

approved ATNM represents the Council’s much increased ambition for Active Travel 
infrastructure and provides a strong foundation for the development of the Council’s Active Travel 
delivery programme. The ATNM consultation has allowed the public to inform us about their 

issues, requests, concerns, and other matters of consideration. 

£2M investment works has been made to the Monmouth to Brecon Canal, relining a section to 
safeguard its structure.  This has now allowed full access for walking and cycling along the Risca 

footpath-towpath section (Active Travel Routes 176 and 178). 

We did a significant amount of resurfacing and improvement work on the A road roundabouts 
which are our strategic routes.  We also made some of the experimental orders for new cycle 

route sections such as Lewis Steet Ystrad Mynach and Bwl Road Nelson, permanent, and 
completed a section of the cycle route below the Cwm Calon housing estate in Penallta. 

We completed resurfacing and improvement of the Active Travel Route between New Tredegar 
and Abertysswg. 

Page 52



34 
 

A number of crossings were identified across the county which did not have appropriate drop 
kerbs. A total of 87 were installed improving the walkability of the neighbourhoods. 

 

 

 

The last phase of the Mid Valley area bus corridor improvements was completed in 2021/22 with 
the delivery of 96 bus stop improvements with the limited funding award from Welsh Government. 

Further funding has been sought for 2022/23 to complete the last remaining bus corridor 
improvement programme for the county borough that will improve accessibility for passengers. 

Regular highway network improvements and maintenance continued this year at a cost of 

£2,937,530, delivered resurfacing 74,995 square meters of highways and surface dressing 
treatment to 191,874 square meters, during the period between February and October of 2021.  
We identified 5,008 carriageway potholes and 528 footpath potholes for addressing, 17 severe 

weather culvert runs, inspections and cleansing, with 49,046 Gullies, emptying and cleansing. 

In winter we carried out 86 Winter maintenance runs, to keep our key highways open (covering 
28,140 kms of salting, using 4,837 tons of road salt).  

 

Our focus for the future 

 

 We want to develop and deliver the Active Travel Integrated Network Map programme. 

 Progress the detailed architectural design for Caerphilly Interchange and target the new 
UK Levelling Up Fund for its delivery by March 2025. 

 Support delivery of the Ebbw Valley Railway with committed improvements ensuring the 

Council’s priorities for Crumlin and Newbridge are considered. 
 Continue to develop the Electric Vehicle (EV) charging infrastructure for public, taxi and 

public transport use, with a focus on implementing an on-street charging network. 

 

Did you know? 

1750 Km of highways were inspected and maintained, and 6,141 Potholes were 

addressed. 9,887 Highways maintenance and defects were dealt with, and 724 

Roads were gritted to maintain traffic flow during inclement weather. 

 

 

Page 53



35 
 

 Well-being Objective 5 

Creating a County Borough that supports a healthy lifestyle in 

accordance with the sustainable development principle within the 

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

 

What went well this year 
 

We appointed a Food Development Officer and Food Development Assistant Officer towards the 
end of the financial year, to start tackling of food poverty and insecurity in earnest. The increase 
in the number of Social Food Organisations helping to support people in food poverty has grown 

considerably throughout the borough. 

We had a successful roll out of the Food Poverty Grant, and this helped us fund groups for such 
projects as Community growing spaces and the outdoor community fridge. The scope of the 

grant allowed current social food organisations to develop and improve the services offered to 
their clients. 

Grant funding was awarded quickly and diligently to voluntary groups and social enterprises 

including the Household Support Fund and the Isolation and Loneliness Grant that supports 
community groups tackling loneliness in our most deprived communities through innovative and 
community focused projects. 

A successful bid to the Welsh Governments Food Insecurity Grant, helped community 

organisations to establish locally sought solutions to food insecurity across the county borough. 

The opening of a Social Pantry in Risca, a Social Enterprise creating jobs within Ystrad Mynach 
offering low-cost food and supporting a café to become sustainable and create jobs, are just two 

of the projects funded and proven to make a real difference. 

The launch of the Caerphilly Food Poverty Network took place March 2022, and the network aim, 
is to bring together food producers, suppliers and community food support groups to network and 

build links with like-minded people.  

Supported by the Food4Growth Project, which is a regional project delivered by Torfaen, 
Monmouthshire County Council and ourselves.  We supported the regions food and land-based 
economy with funding through the UK Governments Community Renewal Fund. 

The Healthy Early Years (Hey) Scheme is part of a Welsh Government initiative to give national 

accreditation to childcare settings, as contributors to children’s health and well-being, the scheme 
continues to encourage positive health behaviours in children from an early age.  

As of 31 March 2022, we had 11 childcare settings progressing through Phase 1 of the (Healthy 

and Sustainable Pre-school Scheme) five of which were newly recruited during the past year. This 
includes food, nutrition, and physical activity. There are 10 settings progressing through Phase 2, 

which includes encouraging and promoting good mental and emotional health, well-being, safety 
and hygiene. There are 20 settings on Phase 3, which includes the environment and staff health 
and well-being.  Two settings underwent a successful bi-annual review and achieved re-

Page 54



36 
 

accreditation.  Virtual training was provided for all settings engaged on the scheme in Staff Health 
and Well-being.  

We provided training for 12 settings on a programme called ‘Little Magic Train’ which is a 

movement-based learning platform that allows children to express emotion and be included. 

Everyone who takes part creates their own masterpiece through their journey. This multi -sensory 

activity is an ideal springboard for further learning that ranges from dialogic reading to physical 

literacy using creativity and role-play as the sessions are a bridge between the imaginary and 

real world. The Gwent wide Gold Standard Healthy Snack Award training was developed and 

delivered alongside Aneurin Bevan Heath Board Dieticians and a training event held on the 8 

July across Gwent assessed and awarded 20 childcare settings the Gold Standard Healthy 

Snack Award status. 

The National Quality Awards for Healthy Schools are still currently suspended; however Public 

Health Wales (PHW) have asked Local Authorities to submit schools who are ready to achieve 

the award. Caerphilly has 1 school ready, and they are awaiting dates. This year we have been 

focussing on PHW Whole School Approach to Mental and Emotional Well-being and six schools 

took part and completed the pilot scheme.  

 

 

 

Regarding ‘Period Dignity’ during the last year we have ensured all our schools and community 

settings have a wide range of environmentally friendly products available. We have provided 

products to all libraries, allowing all sites to provide the public with a walk-in and collect service. 

We continue to increase the number of settings throughout the authority to ensure they have a 

wide selection of products on site.  We have also supported some secondary schools with 

educational workshops.  

We introduced a new Public Space Protection Order (PSPO) relating to dog control which 

included the banning of dogs on marked sports pitches placed in all Council owned parks. 

Providing a safe and clean area for sports to be played on also contributes to the Sports and 

Active Recreation Strategy as it encourages healthy lifestyles and supports our residents to be 

more active, this helps maximise people’s health and well-being. 

As part of Healthy walks, the survival of our led walking groups following the Covid-19 pandemic 

is undoubtedly the major success of the year. Coming out of the pandemic it was uncertain 

whether any of these groups would restart. With Covid risk assessments in place our volunteer 

led groups tentatively recommenced in May 2021. Our full timetable of walks is now back in place 

with The Pengam Strollers, Penallta Strollers, Bedwas Strollers, Islwyn Ramblers, Caerphilly 

Ramblers and Caerphilly Adventure Group all back leading walks.  

On the back of our local groups restarting, we were able to deliver the Caerphilly Challenge 

Series in Rhymney, with 415 entrants attending on the day in one of the first large outdoor events 

to take place in Wales since February 2020. The day was a tremendous success with all abilities 

Did you know?  

A report released in December 2021 by Welsh Government and Flytipping Action Wales 

revealed that Cardiff (301), Newport (59), Carmarthenshire (41) and Caerphilly (40) are 

the top performing areas for issuing fixed penalty notices to tackle fly-tipping in Wales 

2020/21.  

 

 

Page 55



37 
 

and ages taking part, benefiting their health (physically and mentally) and enjoying the green 

spaces of Caerphilly. There were 75 volunteers who helped deliver the event and feedback from 

participants was positive.  

Our Volunteer Training Progression Plan continues to grow with more volunteers getting involved 

in leading walks. To date training has taken place in healthy walks leading, Hill and Moorland 

leading, Mountain leading, national navigation awards and outdoor first aid. 

The Caerphilly Landscape Partnership has continued community engagement activities through 

close partnership working with Aneurin Bevan University Health Board (ABUHB) and after a 

break from Covid, are now taking referrals again. This has followed direct engagement and 

promotion of the project and its aim of encouraging members to enjoy the landscape on their 

doorstep, and to experience the health and well-being benefits of walking. There has also been 

an increase in engagement on the health walks at Lansbury Park following the partnership 

support work in the area.  

ABUHB has delivered walks from Graig y Rhacca with the Rhacca Ramblers and Lansbury Park 

with the Lansbury Trekkers during the period with our support, with 24 walks led throughout the 

year to the end of the programme March 2022.  Outdoor Emergency First Aid training session 

and outdoor walk leader training was held so that walkers become certified to lead their own 

walks to continue the legacy of the project after the funding ends. 

In sports and leisure, we upgraded Newbridge Leisure Centre fitness suite to a high-quality 

community space and targeted investment in our swimming areas focusing on education. 

Caerphilly Adventures is a section based in Cwmcarn Forest and provides recreational 

opportunities for adults and young people to take part in outdoor activities such as hill walking, 

canoeing, rock climbing, caving and stand-up paddle boarding by running a range of courses. 

There has been significant investment in equipment and the site to help us operate in a more 

efficient and professional way. A recent addition is the 60+ Programme which offers e-biking and 

hill walking opportunities for residents who are aged 60 to encourage them to maintain fitness.  

The lifting of the post Covid restrictions saw an increase of visits to country parks and we 

attracted and consolidated significant external funding to assist delivery and what we can provide 

at key sites, for example we secured funding for a new multi-use visitor centre at Penallta Parc. 

We are working with Monmouthshire County Council, Blaenau Gwent, Newport and Torfaen 

councils as well as Natural Resources Wales, Forest Research and the Severn Wye Energy 

Agency, to ensure that the area’s natural resources are healthy, resilient to pressures and threats 

so that they are able to provide vital health and well-being benefits for current and future 

generations. 

The commencement of the Covid Memorial Woodland at Cwmfelinfach was launched by the First 
Minister to remember those lost to the pandemic. 

  

What did not go well and what have we learned   
 

The food poverty issues are not going away, especially with the cost-of-living crisis, and we need 
to continue to support those groups who are supporting our most in need with food poverty. 
Support groups have reported that since the hike in energy costs that the number of people 

turning up has almost doubled and not just those people in receipt of benefits.  

Page 56



38 
 

We will continue to support the groups with mentoring, training, and how to promote their 
services, as a positive impact on reducing food waste and lowering our landfill, therefore meeting 
our targets, and to educate and link together people who are in the food industry to develop a 

cooperation that benefits all with a positive impact on our communities. 

Our Food Co-operative on Tuesdays started November 2021 and we had 15 to 20 people picking 
up food, this increased steadily each week but in the last month has increased dramatically.  We 

now have 60 to 70 people collecting each week and we expect that to continue to rise. In addition 
to the Food Co-op, we also supply fresh food to other families on weekends. Our total weekly 
figure is approximately 108 families, and we expect this to increase on a weekly basis, as many 

of our recipients depend on our help.     

In promoting healthy lifestyles, we have learned that people value their outdoor green spaces and 
the company of others as evidenced by numbers of walkers returning to our led walks. During the 

pandemic it was evident that more people were independently accessing green spaces which 
highlighted a number of issues with our self-led trail guides. We have learned not to assume that 

our routes are all open and acknowledge that if we are going to promote independent walking we 
need to plan and resource the upkeep of these routes.  

Country parks and other green areas are appreciated by residents who have competing uses and 
this needs to be managed with more sites brought under green flag award or similar, which will 

require on going investment. 

We have not met our target this year for participants in Sport Caerphilly activities due to Covid-19 
restrictions and guidance. There has also been issues where trying to meet demands of delivery 

has not always been possible in such programmes as Tots, Positive Futures, and school sport 
due to a loss of workforce. Casual coaches have reviewed their careers and moved on to new 
opportunities in new industries. We have tried to overcome these barriers by going out to 

recruitment, but this has been challenging in the number of applicants and meeting the criteria. 
To address this, we are looking for our Leadership Pathway in 2022/23 and hope to upskill a new 

workforce through this method. In addition to the above, we have not been able to deliver large 
scale events such as Legacy Games, Caerphilly 10k and 2k, which historically are heavy in 
participation levels and engagement.  

Overall, there has been year-on-year increases for participation and over half of all children have 

taken part in 5 x 60-minute activities at least once, however, with the pandemic, this halted 

growth in participation that would have taken place in the school sport programme. Whilst our 

school sport programme resumed in 2021/22, this continues to have its challenges due to 

changes in guidance around Covid-19 up until recently. However, the interest and schools that 

have engaged so far this year has been incredibly positive and numerous children and young 

people have participated in offers made to the schools. 

Whilst improvements have been made to land management to achieve sustainable land 

management, more needs to be done to both fulfil legislative and moral obligations. For example, 

the South Wales Uplands Project, which is a regional project, led by Torfaen but covering most our 

out uplands and includes a range of partners to protect our lands and eco system, with a flagship 

initiative ‘the wildlife crime toolkit’ which targets arson, off-roading and littering.  The same applies 

to wildlife conservation and the nature emergency which will require further resources to meet our 

obligations. The foundations to achieve this are in place. 

Most of the Public Rights of Way within the county borough are open and in good condition for 

the public to use. However, there is a substantial backlog of legislative work that we need to 

undertake and progress addressing this is slow. 

Page 57



39 
 

The value and diversity of our rural economy is becoming increasingly recognised and we have a 

Rural Development Plan and team that supports rural businesses and communities throughout 

the pandemic helping many to survive. This will also be true through the recovery period and the 

securing of a further round of RDP funding is essential. The post Brexit arrangements are not yet 

fully known which is leading to uncertainty however our aim is to continue with partnership 

working along a similar model. 

 

What difference have we made 

 

We continue to provide free products to help with the ‘Period Dignity’ programme, so that young 
people across the borough, to access from our collection points. Distribution of products from our 
storage site to the public needs to improve as our stock levels are rising each year with additional 

grant funding.  

Our work to improve Food Poverty through a range of different types of projects is making a real 
difference to many residents that require support. 

More than 25,000 people downloaded our Leisure App increasing digital access. We also won a 

Gold Award for most improved Local Authority in Sports and Leisure from the company that runs 
the method of measuring high-quality customer experience. 

We opened the new state of the art Oakdale Athletics Hub in collaboration with a range of 

partners and this is available for community bookings.  

Participation rates in extra-curricular Dragon Multi-skills, designed to offer 7 to11 year-olds fun 
and enjoyable sporting opportunities, are also increasing each year although the Covid effect 
impacted this. Programmes such as our ‘Tots’ sports in football and netball have seen a huge 

increase in demand and participation with enabling a return in 2021/22. 

We secured funding and undertook a variety of improvements to allotments throughout the 
county borough, including security measures and toilet provision. 

In Rural Development we provided a suite of grants to support our rural enterprises and 

communities. We helped develop and provide recreation facilities as part of the Welsh Housing 
Quality Standard and provided wider ecological and landscape advice throughout the borough.   

We opened a new municipal cemetery at Gwaun Gledyr to accommodate the needs of the 

southern Rhymney Valley. 

We are part of Gwent Green Grid Partnership, which is a ground-breaking project that aims to 
improve and develop green infrastructure.  This includes natural and semi-natural features, green 

spaces, rivers and lakes that intersperse and connect villages, towns and cities – as well as 
providing green job opportunities within the area.  Green infrastructure has a crucial role to play 
in addressing nature, climate change and health emergencies. 

 

Our focus for the future 

 

 With the establishment of the Caerphilly Food Poverty Network, coupled with the Food 

Poverty Grant for 2022/23 we intend to continue our support for established and emerging 

Food Banks and Fair Share outlets.  We will also support more locally grown food, 

therefore reducing haulage and environmental costs.  

Page 58



40 
 

 We are fully aware of the cost-of-living crisis and will be promoting and supporting more 

innovative ways to tackle not only food insecurity but also food waste. 

 To launch the Community Cooking Champions Scheme and Partnership with Morrisons 

Supermarket and further promote the Community Volunteering Scheme.  

 To develop branding using recycled and reusable brown paper bags and through social 

media “Helping to Reduce Food Waste” 

 Healthy Early Years will be encouraging more settings onto the scheme as per the annual 

requirement of introducing five new settings a year. The scheme will be included as a 

quality award for settings wishing to deliver Early Years Education places, Flying Start 

Places and to be a part of the Assisted and Supported Places Scheme. 

 We are developing educational workshops to support young people gain further knowledge 

of the range of eco-friendly products to support Period Dignity. We also aim to support 

more settings across the council to provide products on their premises.   

 We will implement further Fly-tipping initiatives including the use of new covert CCTV  

cameras, multi-agency vehicle stop-checks, and a duty of care social media campaign. 

 Link with and support the Caerphilly ‘Green Grid’ project and develop a strategy for 

developing and promoting our self-led routes and promote our led walking groups.   

 Continued delivery of the ambition set out in Sport & Active Recreation Strategy 

 Delivering staff training opportunities that support the delivery of high-quality customer 

experiences, interventions, and innovative solutions. 

 Active Gwent is a regional collaboration across Gwent whose purpose is to improve 

physical literacy, promote a positive future and tackle inequality through sport.  The 

partnership aims to get 75% of people ‘hooked on sport’ by 2027 although the overall 

target may have been impacted by Covid-19, one of our priorities for 2022/23 is to 

continue our promotion of girls and women’s participation in sport as there are significant 

health and equalities benefits with these programmes.   

 To prepare a revised Rights of Way Improvement Plan to assist with both maintenance 

and operation as well as reducing the legislative backlog. 

 Construct a multi-use visitor centre at Parc Penallta and undertake a wide range of 

environmental improvements with some focus being on former collieries and tips. 

 Secure funding to allow the continuation of the Rural Development Plan. 

 Continue with partnership working to secure improved sustainable land management and 

access to funding streams whilst sharing resources. 

 We want to ensure more land is managed sustainably for the benefit of wider eco system 

services including de-carbonisation and flood prevention. 

 Assist and ensure that both policies and site selection in the Local Development Plan are 

appropriate and the Strategic Environmental Assessment is robust. 

 Undertake improved management and better use of our water bodies and resources. 

 

  

Page 59



41 
 

 Well-being Objective 6  

Support citizens to remain independence and improve their well-

being 

 

What went well this year 

 

Our response to the Covid pandemic within Social Care has been exceptional. Frontline 

operational services had to be maintained and continued to run throughout the various 

lockdowns. Services were able to adjust up and down in response to restrictions being imposed 

and being lifted and this is credit to the commitment and resilience of all staff.  Despite the 

pandemic, overall performance across all services has been maintained and the Annual 

Performance Returns to Welsh Government demonstrate this, as has the feedback from our 

Regulator Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW).  

Despite increasing demand and complexity, the Directorate has, once again, remained within its 

allocated budget for the year. 

Social Services continues to have an effective Information, Advice and Assistance (IAA) Service 

in place that fully meets the requirements of the Social Services & Well Being (Wales) Act 2014. 

All staff have received ‘what matters’ training in line with a national programme supported by 

Social Care Wales and Welsh Government aimed at supporting citizens to support themselves 

through the use of collaborative communication. 

One of our aims over the length of the 5-year plan was to look at prevention and introduce 

systems that prevented people where possible going into higher statutory interventions, as such 

the Home First, Emergency Care at Home and Discharge to Assess Schemes are all now fully 

operational and contribute to both preventing unnecessary admissions to hospital and to 

supporting speedier discharges from hospital wherever possible.  

Welsh Government have confirmed grant funding to provide preventative services and to offset 

the increased demands on services, as a result of Covid. These demands will continue, and 

structured work plans, and commissioned services are in place to ensure all funding and 

resources are used to their fullest.   

The Intensive Support Team provides the edge of care support* for Children’s Services and using 
grant funding, has been expanded to include a Child Psychologist, Education Worker, Health 

Visitor, a Family Meeting Service, and additional Family Support Workers.  Children looked after 
numbers were predicted to continue to rise throughout the year, but actually stabilised in the 
period running up to Covid-19. The number has remained stable over the last two years. 

Page 60



42 
 

*Edge of Care is about prevention, to support for Children for whom entry into care had been 
considered by the local authority, either on a voluntary basis or through legal proceedings, but 
are then supported not to enter care. 

A significantly enhanced range of support is now available for identifying and support all carers 

including individual support, groups and leisure and social activities and these are all publicised 
through a regular newsletter. 

To improve the recruitment of Foster Carers and Shared Lives Carers we have assessed and 

approved 10 new Shared Lives Carers and 15 new Foster Carers in the past 12 months. 

The current advertising campaign to recruit carers is being revised to include reference to the My 
Support Team Therapeutic Fostering Service. 

A dedicated Communications Officer post has been created funded by Social Services to 

increase our social media presence, publicise the range of supports that are on offer and to boost 
recruitment to vacant posts and for carers. 

Welsh Government requires each of the collaborative regions in Wales to deliver statutory 

advocacy services for children and young people.  The Gwent region is acknowledged to be 
leading the work in Wales and within the region.  Caerphilly has led the development of Parent 
Advocacy to support families through child protection planning and decision-making processes 

which is now being adopted across Wales. 

Existing collaborations include the South-East Wales Safeguarding Board, hosting the West 
Safeguarding Hub with Gwent Police, the South-East Wales Adoption Service, Foster Wales, 

Shared Lives, and the South-East Wales Emergency Duty Team. 

 

What did not go well and what have we learned   

 

Two of the most significant challenges we faced were the ever-changing Welsh Government and 

Public Health Wales guidance and pressures within the health system, including hospitals and 
the ambulance service, directly linked to responding to the Covid-19 crisis.  Ongoing NHS 

problems around ambulance response times and hospital discharge means people are waiting 
for care in their own homes for longer than we want.  

Increasing demand for services and increasing complexity of cases being presented result in 
enhanced packages of care and support with the increased costs that this incurs. Covid has had 

a significant impact on the way services have had to be delivered and the overall position is 
volatile with services being exposed to significant demand variations. 

Recruitment and retention of social work and care staff continues to be problematic as it is in all 

social services departments across Wales.  However, the positives about flexible, agile, hybrid, 
blended approaches to delivering our service will be maintained for the future. 

 

What difference have we made  
 

Despite all the challenges faced by our communities, society, and the world as a whole, Social 
Services have continued to safeguard and support the most vulnerable and most in need children 
and adults.   

The most vulnerable children and adults in our communities continue to be safeguarded and 

protected despite the service challenges. For example, there was a positive increase in children 

Page 61



43 
 

looked after that were discharged from care over the year, which is attributable to successful 
revocations of Care Orders in the Courts. 

The number of assessments completed in timescale has increased over the year due to the 
change made to the processes to become more streamlined, which makes the assessment better 

for social workers to complete and implement.   

The number of Children who are Looked After has decreased slightly over the past year, also 
there has been a reduction in the number of Child Protection Register (CPR) registrations in the 

last 12 months. 

The percentage of children in care who had to move three or more times reduced to 1.71% which 
means that less children being moved around with a positive impact on the child and the families 

involved. 

As a result of our work, complaints have not increased despite restrictions to services having to 
be imposed and overall, compliments continue to significantly outnumber complaints, with some 
positive comments recorded across all service areas. 

Satisfaction surveys were suspended due to Covid operational working but will resume from 2022 
onwards.  Feedback from our Regulator (CIW) continues to be incredibly positive. 

 

Our focus for the future 

 

 We are going to develop a council wide Learning Management System (LMS) to record 
safeguarding training attendance and completion.  This development links directly to 

recommendations made by Audit Wales following a review of Corporate Safeguarding 
arrangements.  The model was initially developed by Social Services but has been 

adopted by the whole council and through working in collaboration with Blaenau Gwent, 
Merthyr Tydfil and Carmarthenshire Councils, investment has been secured from Welsh 
Government to commission the new system. 

 Recruitment and retention of qualified Social Workers remains a constant challenge to 
operational service delivery.  We have a successful secondment programme that supports 

experienced but unqualified staff already working within the Service to undertake the 
Social Work Degree whilst also working. 

 We are working to modernise day services and learning from the experiences of having to 

deliver services during the Covid pandemic has allowed the Directorate to take stock of 
the way day services can be delivered going forward. An independent review of services 

to identify options for future delivery has been commissioned and will report back within 
2022/23. 

 We have a long-standing commitment to develop new, purpose-built respite homes for 

short break provision for disabled adults and children will be progressed during 2022/23.  
The site for development has been identified. 

 

 

Page 62



44 
 

Section 9: How to contact us 

______________________________________________ 

 

Your views and opinions on the content of our reports, plans and the priorities are important to 

us.  We welcome your input so that we can continue to provide meaningful information that helps 
inform you of the service focus, ensuring that we are working on the things that are important to 
making a difference to you, our citizens, and our communities. 

 
You can contact us by: 

 
Email: BIT@caerphilly.gov.uk or via the Council Performance webpage and follow the 
instructions on screen. 

  
Alternatively, please contact: 
 

ROS ROBERTS 
Business Improvement Manager  

Caerphilly County Borough Council  
Penallta House 
Ystrad Mynach  

Hengoed  
CF82 7PG 

 
Tel: 01443 864238 
E-mail: roberr@caerphilly.gov.uk 

  
 

You can contact us via social media.  
 

 
 

 

This document is also available in different languages and formats upon request. 
 

Further information can also be found on our website: www.caerphilly.gov. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 63

mailto:BIT@caerphilly.gov.uk
http://www.caerffili.gov.uk/main.aspx?lang=cy-GB


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 64


	Agenda
	3 Corporate Performance Assessment End of Year Report 2021/22.
	Appendix 1
	CE Summary
	Page 1
	Page 2
	Page 3
	Risk Register


	4 Annual Self-Assessment Report (Including Well-Being Objectives) 2021/22.
	Appendix 1


